Cordula Epple

The climate relevance of ecosystems beyond forests and peatlands – A review of current knowledge and recommendations for action





BfN-Skripten 312

2012



The climate relevance of ecosystems beyond forests and peatlands – A review of current knowledge and recommendations for action

Cordula Epple



Cover picture: Seagrass meadows (J. Fourqurean)

Author's address:

Cordula Epple UNEP-WCMC

219 Huntingdon Rd Cambridge CB3 ODL United Kingdom

Scientific Supervisor:

Andrea StraussBundesamt für Naturschutz,Gisela StolpeFG II 5.3 "International Academy for Nature Conservation"

Suggested citation:

Epple, C. (2012): The climate relevance of ecosystems beyond forests and peatlands. A review of current knowledge and recommendations for action. – BfN-Skripten 312. Bonn (German Federal Agency for Nature Conservation), 52 p.

This publication is included in the literature database "DNL-online" (www.dnl-online.de)

BfN-Skripten are not available in book trade but can be downloaded in a pdf version from the internet at: http://www.bfn.de/0502_skripten.html

Publisher: Bundesamt für Naturschutz (BfN) Federal Agency for Nature Conservation Konstantinstrasse 110 53179 Bonn, Germany URL: http://www.bfn.de

All rights reserved by BfN

The publisher takes no guarantee for correctness, details and completeness of statements and views in this report as well as no guarantee for respecting private rights of third parties. Views expressed in the papers published in this issue of BfN-Skripten are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of the publisher.

No part of the material protected by this copyright notice may be reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording or by any information storage and retrieval system without written permission from the copyright owner.

Printed by the printing office of the Federal Ministry of Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety.

Printed on 100% recycled paper.

ISBN 978-3-89624-047-7

Bonn, Germany 2012

About this report

This report was prepared by UNEP-WCMC as a background document and basis for discussion for the workshop "The climate relevance of ecosystems beyond forests and peatlands", which took place from 26-29 October 2011 at the International Academy for Nature Conservation on the Isle of Vilm, Germany. It was subsequently updated in collaboration with the participants to include additional information and ideas developed during and after the meeting. The workshop conclusions and recommendations are included as an annex to the document.

Acknowledgements

Thanks are due to the German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU) and the Federal Agency for Nature Conservation (BfN) for financial support, and to the speakers, facilitators and participants of the workshop and staff and others at UNEP-WCMC for input to the preparation of the report and comments on the draft.

In particular, we would like to thank all of the following for sharing their knowledge, experience, research and advice: Richard Bradbury, Allan Buras, Ivan Castelli, Stephen Crooks, Randal Dell, Barney Dickson, Tom Evans, Rob Field, Claire Fitzgerald, Ralf Grunewald, Niall Hanan, Sophie Hirschelmann, Jane Carter Ingram, Val Kapos, Dominik Kneer, Horst Korn, Erik Kristensen, Werner Kutsch, Rattan Lal, Joseph Lang'at, Rocio Lichte (observer), Núria Marbá, Lutz Merbold, Nick Ostle, Kerstin Pfliegner, Lukasz Rejt, Fred Short, Rudolf Specht, Markus Steffens, Gisela Stolpe, Andrea Strauss, Franziska Tanneberger, Igar Tchoulba, Niels Thevs, Louisa Wood, Karin Zaunberger and Steffen Zuther.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary				
1	Introduction			5
2	The research landscape7			
3	Information needs10			
4	Overview of available information on carbon stocks, sequestration and emissions i different ecosystem types1			
	4.1	Intr	oductory remarks on the cited data sources	12
	4.2	Tur	dra	14
	4.3	Gra	sslands and deserts: the dryland systems	16
	4	.3.1	Temperate grasslands, savannahs and shrublands	22
	4	.3.2	Tropical and subtropical grasslands, savannahs and shrublands	24
	4	.3.3	Deserts and dry shrublands	26
	4.4	Coa	astal ecosystems	28
	4	.4.1	Mangroves	
	4	.4.2	Tidal saltmarshes	33
	4	.4.3	Seagrass meadows	34
5	А	nalysis	of possible priorities for action	
6	С	Conclusi	on	40
References41				
Annex: Recommendations of the workshop "The climate relevance of ecosystems beyond				
for	ests	s and p	eatlands", 26 - 29 October 2011	49

Executive Summary

Many efforts to promote ecosystem-based approaches to climate change mitigation have so far focused on forests, agricultural ecosystems and – to a lesser degree – peatlands. However, there is a wide range of other options for ecosystem-based mitigation, and opportunities in non-forested dryland systems and coastal marine ecosystems deserve more attention.

The potential benefits from mitigation activities in different types of ecosystems can be assessed based on criteria such as typical carbon stocks per hectare, potential emission and sequestration rates of all types of greenhouse gases, area extent, rates of anthropogenic degradation, importance for other ecosystem services such as food provision or biodiversity conservation, and practical feasibility of interventions.

Enough information is available to demonstrate that a number of dryland and coastal marine ecosystems score highly against such criteria. However, margins of uncertainty in quantifying global and site-scale emission trends and mitigation potential are still greater for non-forest ecosystems than for forests, and are particularly large for some types of coastal marine ecosystems. This is partly due to the fact that in ecosystems other than terrestrial forests, the proportion of carbon stored in the soil is generally very high, and measurement methods for soil carbon are time- and cost-intensive.

Major research efforts that help to address these and other gaps in knowledge are under way as part of initiatives to improve the data base for understanding and monitoring the global carbon cycle and regional or national carbon budgets.

Where possible, plans for ecosystem-based mitigation should also take account of emerging knowledge on how climate change will affect the greenhouse gas balance of terrestrial and marine ecosystems, both directly and as a result of human adaptation or mitigation responses.

Results from a review of the current information base for assessing the mitigation opportunities linked to the major non-forested terrestrial biomes and to coastal marine ecosystems include the following:

In **tundra** ecosystems, despite high carbon densities and concern about climate change impacts on ecosystem carbon stocks, opportunities for direct intervention to increase the uptake of carbon or decrease greenhouse gas emissions are small, as land use change has so far been limited.

In **dryland** ecosystems, there are significant opportunities for linking climate change mitigation with other ecological and/or socio-economic benefits, including biodiversity conservation and poverty alleviation. Drylands encompass a large part of the world's temperate, subtropical and tropical **grassland**, **savannah**, **shrubland** and **desert** ecosystems, and are particularly susceptible to land degradation as a consequence of poor management. Their carbon densities can reach those of forests, but significantly lower values are also found, especially in the more arid regions. Current emissions from conversion are estimated to be particularly high in woodland savannahs in South America and Africa.

Options for climate change mitigation in drylands include avoiding further conversion of natural habitats, rehabilitating degraded landscapes, improving the management of overexploited croplands and pastures to maintain and restore soil carbon stocks and reduce emissions of all greenhouse gases, and improving fire management. The suitability of afforestation measures in drylands (i.e. planting trees in areas where natural woody vegetation would be limited) depends on the location and the methods applied, and impacts on biodiversity, water resources and other ecosystem services need to be taken into account.

Among **coastal marine ecosystems**, **mangroves**, **salt marshes** and **seagrass meadows** have the greatest potential for climate change mitigation. Vegetated marine habitats can contribute to carbon sequestration and storage through the growth and accumulation of plant biomass, as well as through the trapping and burial of organic carbon in their sediments. Estimates of average carbon burial rates for the three vegetation types investigated are higher than any soil carbon sequestration rates reported for terrestrial ecosystems. However, sequestration rates vary between sites, depending on a range of environmental factors. Total ecosystem carbon densities, too, are variable but generally high. Information on current distribution areas and rates of degradation and loss is of limited quality for all three vegetation types, but reflects strong anthropogenic pressure.

Considering the rapid decline of vegetated coastal marine habitats, both conservation and restoration are important mitigation approaches. Restoration efforts and the development of appropriate methods are most advanced for mangrove ecosystems, but there are also good examples of salt marsh restoration. For seagrass meadows, restoration is particularly costly, and a focus on conserving remaining areas is recommended. Mitigation efforts in coastal ecosystems can achieve significant additional benefits for society, as the range of environmental services provided by these systems is wide and includes natural coastal protection and potential for adaptation to sea level rise, biodiversity conservation, and habitat functions for commercially relevant fish species.

Major challenges in using the potential of dryland and coastal ecosystems for climate change mitigation will include reconciliation of competing demands for land at the local, national and global scale in order to arrive at management regimes that are both ecologically and socioeconomically sustainable, and the further development of knowledge and methodological approaches to plan for, measure and verify the success of interventions.

The efficient application of incentive schemes requires development and improvement of default values and accounting methods to calculate the mitigation benefits of management interventions at site scale. Progress in these areas has been made for several types of mitigation activities in non-forest ecosystems, but further work is required to broaden the spectrum of activities covered.

Emerging standards and methodologies for ecosystem-based mitigation activities in grasslands, savannahs and coastal wetlands should be widely applied. In addition, pilot projects with appropriate scientific support could help to test and demonstrate the feasibility of new approaches and at the same time enhance the knowledge base on the climate relevance of a wider range of ecosystems.

By broadening the scope of ecosystem-based mitigation approaches, the available land area for mitigation activities, the number of stakeholders who can be involved and the overall mitigation potential can be increased significantly. Paying attention to all types of ecosystems within an area can also reduce the risk of unintended effects from mitigation strategies that are exclusively focused on forest carbon stocks.

1 Introduction

Living organisms play a decisive role in the greenhouse gas cycle, and ecosystems can be both sources and sinks of greenhouse gases, depending on the environmental and anthropogenic factors to which they are exposed. According to recent estimates, natural carbon sinks on land and in the oceans have taken up more than half of all anthropogenic carbon dioxide emissions between 1959 and 2008 through a combination of biotic and abiotic processes. At the same time, emissions from land use change made up a significant share of anthropogenic emissions, estimated at 20 % for the average of the period 1990-2000, and around 12 % in the year 2008 (Le Quéré et al. 2009).

It is therefore widely recognized that improving the management of ecosystems in order to preserve and enhance their carbon stocks and reduce greenhouse gas emissions should be an integral part of strategies to combat climate change. Estimates of the potential of measures in different sectors to achieve emission reductions and/or carbon sequestration, taking into account expected costs, indicate that changes in agriculture and forestry practices can make a contribution to climate change mitigation that rivals or surpasses that of technical options in industry or the transport sector (IPCC 2007). Many ecosystem-based approaches for climate change mitigation can also provide further environmental and social benefits by maintaining or restoring ecological productivity, ecosystem services and biodiversity, as well as by strengthening the resilience of ecosystems to impacts of climate change and other stressors, thus contributing to climate change adaptation.

Much of the attention given to ecosystem-based mitigation approaches has so far focused on forests. There are several reasons for this. First, forests are among the most carbon-rich ecosystems on Earth and many forest areas are facing high anthropogenic pressure (Trumper et al. 2009). The main share of carbon dioxide emissions from land use change as estimated with current methods is caused by tropical deforestation (Le Quéré et al. 2009)¹. Second, the wide range of environmental, social and economic benefits delivered by forests has led to a long tradition of forest conservation efforts in policy and practice. Third, there is also a methodological aspect: temperate and tropical forests are among the few types of terrestrial vegetation which hold more carbon in the biomass than is stored in the soil (Trumper et al. 2009), making changes in carbon stocks both more conspicuous and easier to assess than for other ecosystems.

Another area where the development of methods and practices is well advanced is the enhancement of carbon stocks in agricultural soils. Effects of different cultivation practices on soil qualities, including organic carbon content, have been the subject of numerous studies, and management methods are available that reverse or avoid the depletion of soil carbon stocks caused by traditional farming practices (Smith et al. 2008).

In recent years, an increasing number of initiatives are also addressing emissions from peatlands. These systems are another globally significant emission source due to the notable

¹ Note however that the data base for these estimates is focused on detection of processes such as deforestation and forest burning, which may lead to an underestimation of emissions from other ecosystems.

share of degraded areas and the particularly high carbon densities found in these systems (Parish et al. 2008).

Although priority action in forests, croplands and peatlands is certainly justified by the potential for high emission reductions and/or carbon sequestration per unit area, the wide range of other options for ecosystem-based climate change mitigation should not be disregarded. By further developing the knowledge base and methodologies to address climate-relevant processes in dryland or coastal ecosystems, the available land area for mitigation activities, the number of stakeholders who can be involved and the overall mitigation potential can be increased significantly.

Moreover, mitigation strategies that focus solely on forest carbon stocks without considering the consequences for non-forest areas carry a substantial risk of unintended or even counter-productive side effects. Several authors have assessed the possible implications of a REDD+² mechanism for non-forest ecosystems. For example, the Terrestrial Carbon Group Project carried out a spatial analysis of the possible impacts of REDD+ on future agricultural conversion pressures for other natural landscapes, based on a simplified set of assumptions about legal, biophysical and economic factors influencing these pressures (Terrestrial Carbon Group 2009). Emphasizing the high potential for the displacement of land use change (so-called leakage), they conclude that under a scenario where REDD+ would succeed in protecting 50 % of the current forest area from conversion, displacement of land use change to other ecosystems could mean that emissions from land use change would decrease by no more than 10 % unless steps are taken to reduce overall land demand. Other authors have highlighted the risks that displacement of land use to non-forest areas poses for the conservation of biodiversity (e.g. Miles & Kapos 2008). Including the management of non-forest ecosystems in climate change mitigation strategies can help to reduce such risks.

Consideration of a wide range of ecosystems in mitigation efforts has also been supported by the governing bodies of several Multilateral Environmental Agreements, including the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) and the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification (UNCCD). For example, the CBD's Strategic Plan for 2011-2020 calls for an enhancement of the contribution of biodiversity to carbon stocks through conservation and restoration of ecosystems in general, and CBD Decision X/33 invites Parties to consider implementation of ecosystem-based approaches for mitigation *inter alia* in natural forests, natural grasslands, peatlands, wetlands, mangroves, salt marshes, seagrass beds and agricultural ecosystems.

The present report aims to give an overview on the state of knowledge and relevant research initiatives concerning the status and trends of major ecosystem types with regard to their carbon stocks and greenhouse gas balance, taking into account human influence and possible future impacts of climate change. Recommendations are made on priorities for action and further research, based on the information reviewed.

² REDD+ stands for reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation, conservation, sustainable management of forests and enhancement of forest carbon stocks in developing countries.

It should be noted that the kind and amount of additional benefits that can be obtained from ecosystem-based approaches to climate change mitigation (e.g. benefits for livelihood security, desertification control, biodiversity conservation or climate change adaptation) depends on the choice, design and location of activities. For example, measures to prevent further conversion of natural ecosystems are in most cases beneficial for biodiversity conservation, but their effects on local livelihoods depend on the exact choice of activities. Livelihood security can be enhanced if it is possible to decrease conversion pressure by making current land use methods more efficient, while preventing conversion through stricter land use regulations without additional measures can have negative effects on local livelihoods. The positive or negative impacts of measures to increase carbon sequestration through enhancement of carbon stocks, or to decrease fossil fuel emissions through the cultivation of biofuel feed-stocks, can vary widely depending on their location and the restoration or cultivation methods used.

While considerations related to the potential for additional benefits are mentioned throughout this report, an exhaustive discussion would go beyond the scope of the document.

2 The research landscape

Several research communities are currently developing information that can help to assess the relevance of different ecosystem types for climate change mitigation.

A wide array of initiatives aim to improve the data base for understanding and monitoring the global carbon cycle and the carbon budget of individual regions or countries, including through the creation, strengthening and linking of regional carbon observation systems and the planned establishment of a global carbon observation system as part of the Global Earth Observation System of Systems (GEOSS). Examples of regional observation systems and related projects include CarboEurope, CARBOOCEAN, the US Carbon Cycle Science Program and the CarboAfrica project. Activities include the establishment of additional measurement infrastructure for monitoring carbon fluxes and pools, the further development and harmonization of measurement methods, the facilitation of data exchange and the closing of data gaps related to key processes affecting the greenhouse gas cycle. The EU Coordination Action on Carbon Observation Systems (COCOS) has worked on improving global datasets of variables such as fire emissions, soil carbon and feedbacks between climate and the carbon cycle, and on improving regional carbon budget estimates, including by reviewing data from existing biomass and soil carbon inventories.

Efforts are also underway to develop a global soil observing system as part of GEOSS.

The Global Carbon Project, a joint effort by the International Geosphere-Biosphere Programme (IGBP), the International Human Dimensions Programme on Global Environmental Change (IHDP), and the World Climate Research Programme (WCRP), aims to build an international framework for integrated research on the carbon cycle.

Unfortunately, because the initiatives described above mainly aim to improve overall global or regional estimates of carbon budget parameters, the collected data are not always published in a form that makes it possible to relate them to specific ecosystem types. Moreover, many of their component activities are focussed on forest ecosystems.

Further research activities related to various aspects of the role of ecosystems in the climate system are carried out by a broad spectrum of academic institutions and national research initiatives and programmes, such as the North American Carbon Program.

Targeted work on the greenhouse gas balance of individual ecosystem types under different uses or degrees of human impact has also been carried out in a number of smaller-scale studies synthesizing information from available literature and databases, often with the explicit aim of promoting ecosystem-based mitigation approaches. Examples include work supported by the FAO on carbon sequestration in drylands (e.g. Conant 2010) and work on carbon storage in coastal ecosystems (e.g. Laffoley & Grimsditch 2009).

In-depth studies linked to selected clearly defined ecosystem-based mitigation activities have been undertaken to support the development of accounting requirements for obtaining carbon credits that can be sold on the market for voluntary emission offsets. In order to develop such requirements for mitigation projects applying a certain type of activity, the main factors determining the impact of the activity on greenhouse gas emissions and sequestration need to be identified, and minimum methodological standards for measuring and reporting on these factors and calculating the resulting climate benefits need to be defined. Examples of certification standards that offer options for the validation of carbon credits from ecosystembased mitigation projects include the Verified Carbon Standard (which has recently approved accounting requirements for peatland rewetting and conservation projects; work on requirements for wetlands conservation projects and projects avoiding the conversion of grasslands and shrublands is ongoing), the Protocols of the Chicago Climate Exchange (e.g. for soil carbon sequestration in sustainably managed rangeland and soil carbon sequestration through continuous conservation tillage and conversion to grassland), and a recent Australian standard for reducing greenhouse gas emissions from savannah burning (see Russell-Smith & Whitehead 2008).

The GEF Carbon Benefits Project has developed a web-based carbon measuring and modelling system that can be used to assess the impacts of land management interventions funded by the GEF or other donors on carbon stocks or greenhouse gas emissions.

Several projects have attempted to organize information on the multitude of research efforts that are underway. For example, the COCOS programme included a component aiming to compile an inventory of national and international research activities that are relevant to carbon cycle research. The Terrestrial Carbon Group has produced lists of major organizations working on, *inter alia*, estimates of land-based mitigation potential for major land classes, process level understanding of carbon dynamics and mitigation potential, and the scientific research base for alternative management practices (Terrestrial Carbon Group 2010).

A non-exhaustive list of relevant ongoing and completed research programmes and projects and related web resources is provided in Box 1.

Box 1: Research programmes and projects addressing the climate relevance of ecosystems (non-exhaustive list)

Global Carbon Project (2001 - ongoing): http://www.globalcarbonproject.org/, see also list of Regional Contributions at http://www.globalcarbonproject.org/research/regionalContributions.htm

Regional Carbon Cycle Assessment and Processes – RECCAP (2007 – 2011): http://www.globalcarbonproject.org/reccap/

FLUXNET (1998 - ongoing): http://www.fluxnet.ornl.gov/fluxnet/index.cfm

GEOCARBON project (2011 - 2014): see http://www.cmcc.it/research/research/projects/geocarbon-operational-global-carbon-observing-system

Global Earth Observation System of Systems (based on Group on Earth Observations Implementation Plan 2005 - 2015): http://www.earthobservations.org/geoss.shtml

CarboEurope (2004 - 2009): http://www.carboeurope.org/

CarboAfrica (2006 – 2010): http://www.carboafrica.net/index_en.asp

CarboEastAsia (2007 - 2012): http://www.carboeastasia.org/

CarboNA (2007 - ongoing): http://nacarbon.org/carbona/index.htm

CARBOOCEAN (2005-2009): http://www.carboocean.org/

Regional pilot platform contributing to a Global Soil Observing System - e-SOTER project (2008 – 2012): http://www.esoter.net/

COCOS - EU Coordination Action Carbon Observation System (2008 - 2011): http://www.cocos-carbon.org/

Integrated Carbon Observing System – ICOS (2008 – ongoing): http://www.icos-infrastructure.eu/

US Carbon Cycle Science Program (2003 - ongoing): http://www.carboncyclescience.gov/programs.php#Carbon_Program

North American Carbon Program (2002 – ongoing): http://www.nacarbon.org/nacp/

Large Scale Biosphere-Atmosphere Experiment in Amazonia (1998 – ongoing): http://lba.inpa.gov.br/lba/

Australian Soil Carbon Research Program (2009 – 2012): http://www.csiro.au/science/Soil-Carbon-Research-Program

African Carbon Exchange Project (2004 – 2007): http://www.nrel.colostate.edu/projects/ace/index.html

Greenhouse gas management in European land use systems (2010 – 2013): http://www.ghg-europe.eu/

Blue Carbon Scientific Working Group (2011 - ongoing): http://www.marineclimatechange.com/marineclimatechange/bluecarbon_2.html

3 Information needs

Despite the significant research efforts described in the preceding chapter, still not all information needs can be met. In their "roadmap for terrestrial carbon science" (Terrestrial Carbon Group 2010), the Terrestrial Carbon Group identified six areas requiring further work in order to provide the necessary knowledge base for effective climate change mitigation in terrestrial ecosystems:

- 1. enhancement of the process-level understanding of carbon dynamics and mitigation potential in ecosystems,
- 2. provision of knowledge on available alternative management practices,
- 3. development of feasible accounting tools for all lands, carbon pools and greenhouse gases,
- 4. development of a framework for integrating information from different scales into a tiered global information system,
- 5. supporting the establishment of national accounting systems, and
- 6. harmonization of reporting guidance across scales and sectors.

This report is concerned primarily with the baseline research needs covered by points 1 and 2.

The authors further note the unequal distribution of research and information synthesis across land classes, carbon pools and regions of the world. With regard to the availability of information on carbon dynamics, alternative management options and accounting tools for different types of ecosystems, they highlight the need for more comprehensive research on grassland, dryland, wetland and peatland systems as compared to forests and agricultural systems (see also further details in the individual chapters of this report).

As Janetos et al. (2005) point out, even basic information on the status and trends in different land cover classes is insufficient at the global level, with deforestation being the most intensively studied process of land cover change. Still, estimates of CO_2 emissions from deforestation and forest degradation are far from certain (van der Werf et al. 2009). One reason for the low quality of information on the status and trends of non-forest ecosystems is the fact that these are harder to detect with remote sensing methods. Estimating their aboveground carbon stocks via remote sensing is even more difficult, as illustrated by the range of values for vegetation biomass given by Goetz et al. (2009).

Measurements of soil carbon are time- and cost-intensive and constitute a particular bottleneck in assessments of carbon stock, carbon stock changes and mitigation potential (Conant 2009, Terrestrial Carbon Group 2010). There is also a need for harmonization of measurement and mapping methods. Henry et al. (2009) compared soil organic carbon estimates for Africa derived from four recent global digital soil maps and five soil properties databases, which held between 1799 and 4043 soil profiles. They found a variation of about $\pm 30\%$ when comparing the soil properties or the spatial data of the different databases.

In terms of regional information coverage, the difference in availability and quality of data on carbon budgets and ecosystem carbon stocks between developed and developing countries has been reinforced by the reporting requirements on greenhouse gas emissions and sequestration according to land categories and uses for industrialized countries under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). These requirements have triggered significant investment in research, development of methodologies and infor-

mation synthesis in developed countries in recent years. Information gaps are particularly wide with regard to the African continent (Williams et al. 2007, Henry et al. 2009, Ciais et al. 2011).

In order to assess the mitigation potential in a specific location, information is needed not only on current carbon stocks and greenhouse gas uptake and emissions, but also on their likely future development both in the absence of mitigation measures (i.e. a reference level) and with mitigation measures in place. The development of scientifically sound reference levels poses a significant challenge due to the uncertainties about socio-economic developments, changes in climate and impacts of climate change on ecological processes³.

Readily available information on typical values for ecosystem carbon stocks and greenhouse gas balances under different kinds of management and environmental conditions can facilitate assessments and projections and reduce the need for field measurements. Use of default values is an important part of methods for the assessment of mitigation options and greenhouse gas estimation methodologies both at the scale of individual projects and at subnational or national scale (e.g. guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories under the UNFCCC). However, in many parts of the world, only coarse estimates for major ecosystem types and land use activities like the default values provided by the IPCC (2003, 2006, see also IPCC Emission Factor Data Base, http://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/EFDB/main.php) are available. The development of region-specific default values that take into account different subtypes of ecosystems and regionally typical forms of land management could significantly improve the results of assessments. In the case of projects aiming to earn carbon credits, reducing the uncertainty of default values can also reduce the need for discounting the credits that are awarded for a certain activity. If suitable input data are available, even more specific assessment results can be obtained through the use of appropriately calibrated process-based models that integrate a range of environmental factors (see e.g. Olander & Haugen-Kozyra 2011).

Assessments of the overall mitigation potential for larger regions or ecosystem types should differentiate between the biophysical mitigation potential and the mitigation potential that can be realized in practice, taking into account socio-economic factors such as the implementation and opportunity costs of measures. Methods for estimating implementation and opportunity costs, and for arriving at estimates of the feasible mitigation potential of different ecosystem-based approaches, vary between authors, with higher agreement in results for well-defined activities such as changes to specific agricultural practices, and wide disparities for approaches that involve large numbers of stakeholders and require fundamental changes to current patterns of natural resource use such as reducing emissions from deforestation (cp. IPCC 2007, Stern 2007).

Finally, if ecosystem-based mitigation approaches are to be designed in a way that promotes the delivery of multiple benefits, it is desirable to improve available knowledge on the current

³ For examples of integrated assessments of likely future changes in carbon stocks, cp. Smith et al. (2005) and Müller et al. (2007). For an example of an attempt to model the combined interactions of ecosystem N and C dynamics with climate change, cp. Zähle et al. (2010).

and potential social and environmental benefits obtained from these ecosystems, and the way in which possible mitigation measures interact with such benefits.

4 Overview of available information on carbon stocks, sequestration and emissions in different ecosystem types

This chapter presents the results of a review of published data on the carbon stocks and greenhouse gas balance of major terrestrial and coastal ecosystem types. Data on carbon stocks, emissions and sequestration per hectare are provided in tonnes, whereas total global values are provided in gigatonnes (1 gigatonne = 10^9 tonnes). If emitted to the atmosphere in the form of carbon dioxide, 1 gigatonne carbon corresponds to an increase in atmospheric CO₂concentration of about 0.47 ppm.

When comparing data on ecosystem carbon stocks and greenhouse gas fluxes provided by different authors, a number of caveats need to be observed, as will be discussed in the following section.

4.1 Introductory remarks on the cited data sources

Delimitation of ecosystem types

A significant constraint for comparisons of data from various sources is caused by differences in the use of terms related to the delimitation of ecosystem types. For terrestrial ecosystems in particular, a variety of classifications are in use and sometimes the same designations are used with different meanings. Information on the applied classification systems or criteria is not always provided, making it impossible to assess possible causes for discrepancies between datasets. For example, Ciais et al. (2011) mention the difficulty of synthesizing information on ecosystem soil carbon stocks and biomass in Africa due to very different definitions being used for the same ecosystem types.

For the purpose of structuring the present report, terrestrial ecosystems are classified according to the seven biome types distinguished in Trumper et al. (2009)⁴, based on the delimitation of biomes provided by Olson et al. (2001), which reflects the ecological and structural characteristics of dominant vegetation types and thus seems well suited as a basis for considering the role of ecosystems in the carbon cycle.

As far as possible, relevant information from the reviewed literature is linked to the ecosystem type which most closely corresponds to the classification unit used in the original source, and discussed in the respective chapter.

A particular case is the abundant literature considering the potential for climate change mitigation in "drylands". There are several definitions of drylands, the most widely applied being that of the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification (UNCCD) and the one used

⁴ i.e. tundra; boreal forest; temperate forest; temperate grasslands, savannas and shrublands; deserts and dry shrubland; tropical and subtropical grasslands, savannas and shrublands, and tropical and subtropical forests.

under the Programme of Work on Dry and Subhumid Lands of the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD).

The UNCCD defines drylands according to an aridity index: the ratio of mean annual precipitation to mean annual potential evapotranspiration. According to this definition, drylands are areas with an aridity index value of less than 0.65. Drylands as defined by the UNCCD include a large part, though not all, of the temperate, subtropical and tropical grassland, savannah and shrubland areas and the desert and dry shrubland areas as identified in Trumper et al. 2009, as well as a small share of forest areas.

The CBD definition of drylands used under the Programme of Work on Dry and Subhumid Lands (document UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/9) is wider than the UNCCD definition and includes additional areas on the basis of the dominant vegetation types, a large share of which are dry forests (see UNEP-WCMC 2007).

Most authors addressing climate change mitigation issues in relation to drylands are referring to the UNCCD definition.

As some of the available information on the climate relevance of dryland ecosystems cannot be disaggregated in order to relate it to the three main dryland biomes, it is presented in a separate section preceding the chapters on the grassland and desert biomes.

Comparability of methods and metrics used to measure carbon stocks

A wide range of different standards and methods are in use for measuring ecosystem carbon stocks, particularly with regard to below-ground biomass and soil organic carbon. A major problem in comparing estimates from different sources are the large differences regarding the soil depth up to which samples were taken. While some authors only provide values for the top 10 or 15 cm of the soil, other studies have examined soil profiles of up to 3 m depth. Where the depth of the analysed soil layers for the same ecosystem type varies among authors, it is not possible to make meaningful comparisons.

Data on carbon stocks and carbon densities within biomes

For each of the terrestrial biomes discussed in this report, values are provided for the total carbon stock in biomass and soils, as well as for the mean carbon density per hectare. These values were obtained by overlaying the biome boundaries derived from the map developed by Olson et al. (Olson et al. 2001, Trumper et al. 2009) with a global map of terrestrial carbon distribution (UNEP-WCMC 2008).

The latter was derived from two global datasets: a dataset of carbon stored in live biomass based on IPCC Tier-1 Methodology using global land cover data (Ruesch & Gibbs 2008), and a dataset compiled by the International Geosphere-Biosphere Programme on soil carbon up to 1 m depth (IGBP-DIS 2000⁵).

⁵ note that this dataset is likely to underestimate carbon stored in peat soils

Although the use of IPCC default values for biomass involves significant simplification, this approach has the advantage of providing globally consistent results. When comparing the average carbon densities between biomes, it has to be kept in mind that the estimates derived from the map overlay reflect not only the carbon densities of the dominant natural vegetation types and subtypes within each biome and their relative share in the total area, but also the degree to which the natural vegetation has been converted to other, usually less carbon-dense land uses.

4.2 Tundra

Tundra ecosystems are found in Arctic and mountainous environments, particularly in Northern Canada, Scandinavia, Russia, Greenland and Iceland. The determinant climate parameters are low to very low temperatures for most of the year, with prolonged periods of snow cover and a short growing season. The active layer of soil, near the surface, tends to be waterlogged in summer and frozen in winter, and usually overlays a perennially frozen layer known as permafrost (Trumper et al. 2009). Tundra ecosystems are characterized by treeless vegetation consisting of dwarf shrubs and/or grasses and sedges. Alongside tundra ecosystems, land cover within the tundra biome includes barren areas with little or no soil cover and vegetation, and permanently ice-capped areas. Estimates of the areal extent of land cover types in the Arctic differ substantially among authors, depending on the classification of vegetation (Chapin et al. 2005).

Area extent of the biome, total carbon stock and mean carbon density

The tundra biome covers an area of approximately 12.9 million km^2 . The total carbon stock within the biome is estimated at 155.4 Gigatonnes C (Trumper et al. 2009). The mean value of carbon density across the biome is 120.4 t C/ha.

Current land use and conservation status and expected trends

The magnitude of land use change in polar regions has so far been limited, although there has been a rapid increase in population after 1960 as a result of expanded resource development and government activity. Since 1990, population growth has slowed in the polar regions of North America and Greenland, and population has declined in Arctic Fennoscandia and particularly in Russia. Human impacts have mostly resulted from industrial development such as mining, construction and operation of metal smelters, and construction of pipelines and transport infrastructure leading to local loss of vegetation and damages resulting from pollution.

Overgrazing by reindeer herds has led to degradation in some areas. In parts of the Russian Arctic, the tree line has retreated southward as a result of forest harvest and anthropogenic burning, increasing the area of treeless vegetation (Chapin et al. 2005). It is difficult to assess future development trends, although some of the consequences of climatic warming might favour an increase in human activity.

Ecosystem carbon stocks and greenhouse gas balance

Tundra vegetation is formed by slow-growing hardy plants with low above ground biomass and a high proportion of plant carbon allocated below ground (De Deyn et al. 2008). Rates of decomposition are low and large amounts of dead plant material accumulate in the soil. Estimates of above-ground plant biomass provided by Shaver et al. (1992) are highest for riparian shrub tundra, with about 19 t/ha, and lowest for evergreen heath tundra with about 2 t/ha. Amthor et al. (1998) cite an average value of 6.3 t C/ha for the total amount of carbon contained in both above and below ground tundra biomass.

Jobbagy and Jackson (2000) analysed the relationship between soil organic carbon distribution up to the maximum depth of 3 m, and climate and vegetation parameters, based on three global databases including more than 2700 soil profiles. They calculate an average value of 180 t C/ha for tundra soils. Amthor et al. (1998) cite an average content of 127.5 t C/ha for the top 1 m of tundra soils, while Amundson (2001) gives an average value of 218 t C/ha without specifying soil depth. Schuur et al. (2008) state that a typical tundra permafrost soil can contain up to 440 t C/ha in the top meter.

The thickness of the permanently frozen layer of arctic soils can be between several hundred meters and less than one meter, and due to cryogenic mixing and other soil processes, organic carbon can be found up to large depths. Estimates of the global carbon pool in permafrost soils are highly uncertain, but Schuur et al. (2008) provide a figure of 1,672 gigatonnes C as their best approximation, with 1,024 gigatonnes in the top 3 meters.

Under current conditions, both direct measurements and global carbon cycle models suggest that the Arctic is neither a large source nor a large sink of carbon dioxide. At the same time, high-latitude wetlands constitute a large natural source of atmospheric methane (Chapin et al. 2005).

There is little potential to increase the uptake of carbon or decrease greenhouse gas emissions in tundra ecosystems at present.

Likely impacts of climate change

The potential impacts of a warming climate on the greenhouse gas balance of tundra ecosystems are a matter of serious concern to scientists. One of the main issues discussed is the potential release of soil carbon through thawing of permafrost. Schuur et al. (2008) cite figures according to which thawing of permafrost as a consequence of climate change and subsequent decomposition of soil carbon could release 40 gigatonnes C into the atmosphere within four decades and 100 gigatonnes C by the end of the century, enough to produce a 47 ppm increase in atmospheric CO_2 concentration (Trumper et al. 2009).

As methane flux from soils increases with soil moisture and summer temperatures, thawing of permafrost is also likely to enhance methane release (Chapin et al. 2005). While the colonisation of tundra areas by shrubs and eventually trees would increase biomass carbon, the effect would not be enough to offset carbon losses from soils (Schuur et al. 2008). Also, the decrease in albedo would increase annual energy absorption, leading to a positive feedback. A northward movement of the treeline has already been observed in Alaska (Chapin et al. 2005).

Other potential impacts of global change that are discussed in the literature include an increased occurrence of fire in tundra regions, with observations already confirming such a trend (Mack et al. 2011), and reduced growth of some plant species as a consequence of higher levels of UV-B radiation.

Knowledge gaps

In addition to uncertainty about the total size of the carbon pool in permafrost soils and its horizontal and vertical distribution, the difficulty of predicting the hydrological conditions that will be created by the thawing of permafrost in combination with changes in precipitation constitutes a challenge for projections of the future greenhouse gas balance of tundra ecosystems. Depending on the landscape and site conditions, a variety of processes can be triggered by thawing permafrost, including both the formation and the drainage of wetlands and lakes (Schuur et al. 2008, Merbold et al. 2009, Koven et al. 2011). These processes have a strong impact on the rates and pathways of the decomposition of organic matter.

4.3 Grasslands and deserts: the dryland systems

The global distribution of natural grassland and desert ecosystems is largely determined by limitations in the availability of soil moisture as a result of low rainfall and/or high evaporation. As mentioned in chapter 4.1, the major part of the area occupied by the natural grassland and desert biomes is therefore included in the area identified as 'drylands' according to the definitions used by the UNCCD and CBD.

Dryland areas are particularly susceptible to land degradation, i.e. the reduction or loss of biological or economic productivity. The widespread degradation of dryland areas, also called 'desertification' has received significant attention over the past decades and has motivated the development and adoption of the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification. As many of the processes leading to land degradation entail reductions in biomass and soil carbon, there is a large potential for synergy between efforts to combat desertification and climate change mitigation, which has been analyzed by a number of authors (e.g. Lal 2001, Trumper et al. 2008, Bai et al. 2008).

Drylands are commonly subdivided into hyper-arid, arid, semiarid and dry subhumid areas, depending on the severity of the moisture deficit. The distribution of desert, grassland, shrubland, woodland and forest ecosystems across the area of drylands is not directly correlated to these subtypes, because vegetation characteristics are also influenced by soil properties and geomorphological features. However, as a general rule, the area occupied by grassland increases from the hyper-arid to the semiarid zone, and forests mostly occur in the dry subhumid zone where they occupy a slightly larger share of the area than grasslands (Safriel et al. 2005).

According to the World Atlas of Desertification and based on precipitation and temperature data collected between 1951 and 1980, drylands cover more than 40 % of the Earth's land surface (Middleton & Thomas 1997, Safriel et al. 2005).

Current land use and conservation status and expected trends

The dominant land uses in the dryland region are agriculture and pastoralism. Rangelands and croplands jointly cover 90 % of the global dryland area and are often closely interlinked. Altogether, an estimated 25 % of the world's drylands are used as croplands. The share of croplands decreases from about 47 % of the total area in the dry subhumid zone to nearly zero in the hyper-arid zone, most of which is to some degree used as extensive rangeland. The importance of pastoral use peaks in the arid zone, as wetter areas are more important for agriculture and drier areas do not support significant numbers of livestock (Safriel et al. 2005).

Both agricultural and pastoral use can have a significant impact on the greenhouse gas balance of terrestrial ecosystems. For a more detailed discussion of the issues involved, see the *ex cursus* on the role of croplands and grazing lands in the terrestrial carbon balance on p. 19.

The transformation of natural grasslands to croplands continues, and some 15% and 14% of the natural habitats in the semiarid and dry subhumid zones were transformed between 1950 and 1990 (Safriel et al. 2005). In parallel to carbon loss, conversion of grasslands to poorly managed croplands in developing countries often results in loss of fertility and increased soil erosion. Common degradation processes in grassland under excessive pastoral use include reduction of vegetation cover, in turn leading to soil erosion, vegetation shifts towards scrubland of low productivity and depletion of soil nutrient reserves. Another process which can induce soil degradation are anthropogenic changes in fire frequency.

Despite the global concern about desertification, available data on the extent of land degradation in drylands are limited, and agreement is hindered by methodological problems (such as discerning between impacts of climate variability and anthropogenic impacts) and definitional issues. Safriel et al. (2005) cite earlier estimates of the proportion of dryland areas suffering from desertification that range from 10 to 70 %, and conclude that the true figure is likely to be between 10 and 20 %.

The Global Assessment of Land Degradation and Improvement (GLADA) considered changes in the net primary productivity of vegetation as an indicator of land degradation or improvement and used remote sensing to identify trends in land degradation between 1981 and 2006 (Bai et al. 2010). Their results indicate that during the period 1981-2006, about half of the global land area experienced no significant changes in degradation status. Significant negative change mainly due to human activities could be allocated to 4% and significant negative change mainly due to climate change to another 5% of the total area. Encouragingly, there were also areas experiencing significant improvement in degradation status: on roughly 10 % of the area, they found significant positive change that was mainly due to human activities, and a further 15 % improved due to benign changes in climate. These figures compare positively to the figures obtained from an earlier version of the analysis which only considered data up to the year 2003, and found a degrading trend on 24 % of the land and improvement on 16% (Bai et al. 2008).

Comparing their findings to the 1991 Global Assessment of Soil Degradation (GLASOD), which looked at degradation status rather than trends in degradation, the authors concluded that the land area identified as degrading hardly overlapped with the already degraded areas, meaning that new areas were being affected. At the same time, some areas of historical land degradation had been so degraded that they were now stable at very low levels of productivity. Degrading areas were found mainly in Africa south of the Equator, Southeast Asia and South China, North-Central Australia, the Pampas, and swaths of boreal forest in Siberia and North America. A disproportionately high share of degrading land globally (i.e. including nondryland areas) was found to be cropland and forest (Bai et al. 2008).

As a general rule, land degradation in drylands is most widespread in the semiarid zone, as a consequence of relatively high sensitivity to human pressure (which increases with aridity) and human population density (which decreases with aridity) (Safriel et al. 2005).

As future projections indicate a continued rise in population densities and an increase in frequency and duration of droughts for many dryland areas, along with increasing water withdrawal rates especially in some arable regions (Siebert et al. 2010, UNEP 2012), it is expected that the vulnerability of drylands to degradation will grow over the coming decades.

Impacts of land degradation and efforts to combat desertification on dryland carbon stocks

Based on their assessment of changes in net primary productivity, Bai et al. (2008) conclude that the loss of carbon fixation from the atmosphere caused by land degradation between 1980 and 2003 amounts to almost one gigatonne. Emissions from the loss of soil carbon are likely to have been even greater (SCBD 2010). Lal (2001) estimated that dryland ecosystems contribute 0.23 - 0.29 gigatonnes of carbon a year to the atmosphere, as a result of desertification and related vegetation destruction, through increased soil erosion⁶ and a reduced carbon sink.

Despite the remaining knowledge gaps concerning extent and severity of soil degradation at different scales, it seems likely that the mitigation potential of degraded lands is significant. Lal (2001) estimated that up to 0.4–0.6 gigatonnes of carbon a year could be saved if eroded and degraded dryland soils were restored and their further degradation was arrested. Measures that can help to restore desertified soils include water saving and harvesting practices, re-establishing vegetation cover and minimizing soil disturbance, improving soil nutrient budgets and diversifying land use systems. As Lal (2009) points out, these generic recommendations must be made site specific through local/adaptive research.

According to Lal (2009), reclaiming salt affected soils can further increase sequestration on degraded lands. For example, biofuel plantations consisting of salt-tolerant plants could sequester between one and three tonnes of carbon per hectare and year and if well-designed could have net positive effects on biodiversity by decreasing land use pressure on other areas.

Examples of salt-tolerant species that might hold potential for biofuel production include *Halopyrum mucronatum*, *Desmostachya bipinnata*, *Phragmites karka*, *Typha domingensis* and *Panicum turgidum* (Abideen et al. 2011).

Safriel et al. (2005) note that similar estimates of the potential carbon sink capacity of dryland ecosystems have been provided by other authors and point out that examples of changes towards more sustainable agricultural management in drylands exist and can be built upon.

Conant (2010) emphasizes the potential of good grassland management to reverse historical soil carbon losses and sequester additional carbon in soils. He further highlights the potential of agroforestry, and cites figures according to which the conversion of 630 million hectares of unproductive or degraded croplands and grasslands to agroforestry could sequester as much as 0.59 gigatonnes of carbon annually by 2040, noting that this would be accompanied by modest increases in N_2O emissions as more N circulates in the system.

⁶ Trumper et al. (2008) mention the difficulty of assessing the fate of carbon lost through soil erosion. While some of the organic carbon contained in eroded soil material is buried and sequestered, it seems likely that a large fraction is emitted into the atmosphere (Safriel et al. 2005).

Afforestation of drylands (i.e. planting of trees in areas where the natural vegetation would support no or less woody vegetation) has been successfully implemented in some areas and can offer climate change mitigation as well as livelihood benefits. However, the suitability of afforestation measures depends on the location and the methods applied. Impacts on biodiversity, water resources and other ecosystem services need to be taken into account (Safriel et al. 2005).

Likely impacts of climate change

Due to the fact that they are already suffering from water stress, all types of dryland ecosystems are highly vulnerable to further decreases in precipitation or increases in rainfall variability, leading to periods of drought or greater frequency and extent of fire. Periodic deteriorations in climate may also force farmers to apply unsustainable practices such as increased use of groundwater for irrigation, which can exacerbate desertification processes. A higher frequency and duration of dry spells is projected for many dryland areas (Conant 2010), and Safriel et al (2005) state that there is a high degree of certainty that the combined effects of global climate change, land use developments, and land cover changes will lead to an accelerated decline in water availability and biological production in drylands.

The role of croplands in the terrestrial carbon balance – an ex cursus

Expansion of agriculture has been the single most dominant trend in land use since the beginning of human civilization. However, estimates of the proportion of natural ecosystems that has been converted to cropland vary considerably between authors. Reasons for this include difficulties in identifying some types of cropland from satellite imagery, definitional issues, and methods applied for classifying areas with a mosaic land use structure. Cassman et al. (2005) state that globally, agricultural land has expanded by around 13 million hectares per year over the past 25 years, predominantly at the expense of natural forests and grasslands. They estimate that some 24 % of the global land surface are now occupied by cultivated systems (including intensively managed grassland).

The largest and most rapid areas of cropland increase between 1980 and 2000 appear to have been located in Southeast Asia, followed by Bangladesh, the Indus Valley, parts of the Middle East and Central Asia, the region of the Great Lakes of eastern Africa, and the southern border of the Amazon Basin in Latin America. Main areas of decrease are found in the southeastern United States, the eastern part of China and parts of Brazil and Argentina (Janetos et al. 2005). It is expected that despite regional decreasing trends, the overall extent of cultivated areas will continue to grow (Cassman et al. 2005). The recent trend towards large scale foreign investment in agriculture that is observed in some parts of the world is likely to contribute to this development.

While intensive farming methods have enabled large increases in productivity in many agricultural areas, some countries, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa, face persistently low levels of productivity and continue to rely on the expansion of cultivated area to meet increasing food demand (Cassman et al. 2005).

Land clearance for agriculture greatly reduces above ground carbon stocks and as a rule also depletes below ground biomass and soil carbon stocks. WBGU (1998) cite figures according to which conversion of natural ecosystems to cropland leads to a mean decrease of 25 - 30 % in carbon content of the top 1 m of soil, but emphasize that rates of loss vary widely depending on farming methods and environmental conditions. They estimate that globally, agricultural conversion has led to a decrease in soil carbon stocks of 38 gigatonnes.

Ogle et al. (2005) compared published data on impacts of agricultural land use on soil organic carbon storage under moist and dry climatic conditions of temperate and tropical regions. The documented impacts were larger in tropical than in temperate regions, and areas with moist climate showed greater sensitivity than dry areas. For example, long-term cultivation caused the greatest loss of soil organic carbon in tropical moist climates, with cultivated soils having only 58% of the amount found under native vegetation. Guo and Gifford (2002) carried out an analysis of published data on impacts of conversion of pasture to cropland, and found that on average soil carbon stocks decreased by almost 60 %. Similar rates are reported by Conant (2010). Lal (2004) estimated that the conversion of natural to agricultural ecosystems causes depletion of the organic soil carbon pool by as much as 60% in soils of temperate regions and 75% or more in cultivated soils of the tropics, and that historic soil carbon loss could have been as high as 42 to 78 gigatonnes.

In principle, these losses are reversible. For example, Vuichard et al. (2008) report gains of 470 kg of soil carbon per ha per year in agricultural land abandoned after the breakup of the Soviet Union. Similar observations have been made for abandoned agricultural lands in Europe and North America (Trumper et al. 2009). In practice, it is to be expected that the potential for discontinuing agricultural use of lands will in many areas be highly constrained by rising demands for food and other agricultural products, as well as by socio-economic conditions and negative impacts of climate change on agricultural productivity (Cassman et al. 2005). It is therefore more realistic to consider the potential for carbon sequestration through improved soil management, set-aside of smaller land parcels and rehabilitation of degraded land. According to IPCC estimates, 50 to 75 % of the lost soil carbon could be regained by such measures, allowing for sequestration of 23 to 44 gigatonnes of carbon within 50 years (WBGU 1998). Lal (2004) estimates that the practically achievable carbon sink capacity of the world's agricultural and degraded soils would be 50 to 66% of historic carbon loss.

The choice of farming methods can strongly influence the climate impacts of agricultural land use, and a significant knowledge base on appropriate practices is already available despite gaps in regional coverage (Trumper et al. 2009, Conant 2010, Smith et al. 2008, Ogle et al. 2005). Further research may be needed to examine the distribution of sequestered soil carbon across different pools, and implications for the stability of carbon stores (Steffens et al. 2009, Terrestrial Carbon Group 2010). In addition to effects on soil carbon, other aspects such as energy demand, methane emissions and emissions of nitrous oxide need to be considered when assessing the greenhouse gas balance of agricultural management. There may be trade-offs between the different factors, as for example nutrient depletion due to low nitrogen input may contribute to loss of soil carbon.

It is also important to consider off-site impacts. For example, water abstraction in order to support irrigation may have impacts on the greenhouse gas balance of the source ecosystems, and addition of manure to fields may lead to carbon depletion on grazing lands. Even more complex is the question of balancing practices that reduce land demand per unit of crop output, thus potentially reducing pressure towards land use change in other areas,

against practices that reduce greenhouse gas emissions per hectare of cultivated land⁷. The cultivation of biofuels is another issue requiring careful assessment, and many authors have warned that under some circumstances emissions from expansion of agricultural activity may more than offset the emissions saved through reduced burning of fossil fuels (Trumper et al. 2009, Cassman et al. 2005).

Cassman et al. (2005) state that most cropping systems have undergone a steady net loss of soil organic matter during the last century. Losses have been particularly high in some areas of the tropics, where erosion, tillage and removal of crop residues have led to soil degradation (see Chapter 4.3). Some soils in tropical agricultural systems are estimated to have lost as much as 20-80 t C/ha (Lal 2004). Bai et al. (2008) state that more than 20 per cent of all cultivated areas worldwide show a degrading trend.

Potentially beneficial practices that could be adopted include conservation tillage, crop rotation and use of cover crops, measures to avoid soil erosion, integrated nutrient management using compost and manure or nitrogen-fixing species, returning of crop residues to the field, integrated weed and pest management, irrigation and water management, and agroforestry (Lal 2009, Smith et al. 2008, Conant 2010, Cassman et al. 2005). Afforestation may also be an option on degraded lands and marginal soils although impacts on the water balance need to be considered.

Which approaches are best suited in a particular location depends on the specific environmental and socio-economic conditions and can therefore only be determined by small-scale assessment.

Smith et al. (2008) estimate that by 2030, 5.5 to 6 gigatonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent could be saved per year through soil carbon sequestration and avoided emissions if best management was widely adopted, making the agriculture sector broadly carbon neutral. About 70 % of the potential are seen in developing countries.

In addition to climate change mitigation, farming methods that maintain and restore soil carbon stocks can also produce other benefits that are of great value for climate change adaptation and food security, such as increasing soil fertility and stability and contributing to water storage capacity. Still, despite their documented advantages they are not yet common practice.

The role of grazing land in the terrestrial carbon balance

Estimated potential rates of carbon sequestration per unit area are lower for grazing land than for cropland, but the total sequestration potential of the two land use categories is comparable because of the large area covered by the former. Conant (2010) cites figures according to which it would be realistic to achieve sequestration of 0.2 to 0.8 gigatonnes of carbon dioxide per year in grassland soils by 2030, assuming prices for CO_2 of US\$ 20 to 50 per tonne.

⁷ Cp. related discussions on integration or segregation of land use for agriculture and biodiversity conservation, e.g. Phalan et al. (2011).

As with croplands, a significant share of the sequestration potential in grasslands used as pasture is a result of previous degradation (see Chapter 4.3). Bai et al. (2008) concluded that about 16 percent of rangelands are currently undergoing degradation, but at the same time also noted a strong trend for improvement in other areas. Degradation in grazing lands is most commonly a result of overstocking and uncontrolled grazing, and major problems can arise in regions where land tenure rights are not well defined (Cassman et al. 2005).

Because livestock is at present the fastest growing agricultural sector, making up over 50 percent of agricultural GDP in many developing countries (Conant 2010), pressure on the land is likely to increase further in order to meet meat and milk demand.

Practices with the potential to increase livestock carrying capacity of grasslands and augment carbon stocks include fertilization, irrigation, sowing of favourable grasses and legumes, grazing management including appropriate timing and stocking densities, fire management and rehabilitation of degraded lands (Conant 2010).

As noted above, there is a need to consider the balances of all greenhouse gases and to take a systems perspective in order to identify appropriate land management regimes. A particular issue in the case of grazing lands are methane emissions from livestock. Overall emissions per unit area may even increase if enhanced productivity of grassland enables higher stocking rates and the rise in methane production offsets soil carbon sequestration. However, the increase in productivity may also reduce land demand (Conant 2010, Terrestrial Carbon Group 2010). Finally, research indicates that it is possible to identify grazing practices which reduce methane production per unit of product (Conant 2010).

4.3.1 Temperate grasslands, savannahs and shrublands

The temperate grasslands, savannahs and shrublands biome covers extensive areas of South America, the USA and Central Asia. The dominant natural vegetation in this biome are largely treeless grasslands locally known e.g. as steppe, prairie or pampa, which in some areas are interspersed with shrubland or form part of a forest-grassland mosaic. Plant growth in this biome is limited by water supply in what is typically a strongly seasonal semi-arid and continental climate. In their natural state, most temperate grasslands support large herds of grazing wildlife species which (along with burrowing soil animals) play an important role in the carbon cycle (Trumper et al. 2009). Field observations suggest that reductions in densities of wild ungulates through overhunting can lead to significant changes in vegetation communities and fire frequency of natural grassland

Area extent of the biome, total carbon stock and mean carbon density

The temperate grasslands, savannahs and shrublands biome covers an area of approximately 15.3 million km^2 . The total carbon stock within the biome is estimated at 183.7 Gigatonnes C (Trumper et al. 2009). The mean value of carbon density across the biome is 119.9 t C/ha.

Current land use and conservation status and expected trends

Due to the potentially high productivity of temperate grassland soils, much of their original area has been cleared for agriculture, while some of the remaining extent is used for intensive livestock grazing. It is estimated that more than 95 % of North American grasslands have been lost (SCBD 2010), and conversion rates have also been high in Eastern Europe and parts of the former Soviet Union and China. Overgrazing leading to degradation and soil

erosion has been a serious problem across some of the areas used as grazing lands, such as parts of the Patagonian and Chinese steppes. The largest areas of remaining natural steppe vegetation are located in Central Asia.

The coverage of protected areas in the temperate grasslands, savannahs and shrublands biome is lower than anywhere else in the terrestrial realm (i.e. < 5%; Coad et al. 2009).

Pressure for further conversion remains a problem in many regions, and susceptibility to degradation is likely to increase as a consequence of impacts of changes in temperature and precipitation on ecosystem productivity. Increasing water abstraction rates, especially for irrigated agriculture, will regionally add to the problem.

Ecosystem carbon stocks and greenhouse gas balance

Generally, temperate grasslands have low levels of vegetation biomass, but high stocks of soil organic carbon. Grassland plants allocate much of their biomass below ground. Pendall et al. (2011) report an above ground biomass of 3 t/ha and below ground biomass of 7 t/ha for a South Australian native temperate grassland. Fan (2008) analysed field samples and literature values of biomass for 17 types of grassland communities in China. They give average values of total biomass carbon ranging between 21.66 t C/ha for alpine meadows, 17.8 t C/ha for alpine meadow-steppe, 12.57 t C/ha for alpine steppe, 10.58 t C/ha for temperate desert-steppe. Amthor et al. (1998) cite an average value of 7.2 t C/ha for the total carbon content of above and below ground biomass in temperate grasslands.

For soil organic carbon, Jobbagy and Jackson (2000) provide an average value for temperate grassland of 191 t C/ha, while Amthor et al. (1998) cite a value of 236 t C/ha for the top 1 m of soil. Amundson (2001) gives 133 t C/ha as an average value for cool temperate steppe soils, and 76 t C/ha for temperate thorn steppe.

As mentioned above, conversion and degradation by overgrazing have a strong negative impact on soil carbon stocks. A drastic example is the heavy topsoil loss after cultivation that occurred in the North American central plains in the first quarter of the twentieth century (Safriel et al. 2005). Xie et al. (2007) conclude that degradation of grassland, particularly on the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau, has led to the loss of 3.56 gigatonnes of soil organic carbon in China since the early 1980s. He et al. (2011) carried out a grazing experiment with seven stocking rates in temperate grasslands of northern China. They found that aboveground plant biomass decreased logarithmically with increasing stocking rates and ranged from 1.6 t/ha to 0.55 t/ha, while soil carbon stocks decreased linearly. The threshold between carbon sequestration in soils and carbon loss was found to occur at a stocking density of 4.5 sheep/ha. Reducing the stocking rate to 1.5 sheep/ha resulted in a carbon sequestration effect of 0.74 t/ha*a. Steffens et al. (2008, 2009) examined effects of grazing exclusion on different fractions of soil organic carbon in a steppe ecosystem in Northeastern China. Although total soil organic carbon content (and other soil parameters such as porosity and nutrient contents) recovered significantly after more than five years of grazing exclusion, they found that the additional carbon was stored in relatively unstable soil fractions which could be vulnerable to rapid loss under changing conditions, and cautioned against ignoring the distribution of carbon across soil carbon pools when considering sequestration potential.

Knowledge gaps

Information on the influence of different grazing systems on soil carbon in grassland systems is still lacking for many regions, in particular in developing countries. Additional field studies as well as efforts to synthesize knowledge from existing studies are needed. Further research is also needed on the likely impacts of climate warming and altered rainfall regimes on grassland vegetation and soil carbon (Conant 2010, Terrestrial Carbon Group 2010). Better information on the extent and severity of soil degradation at different spatial scales could also help to assess mitigation potential (Safriel et al. 2005).

4.3.2 Tropical and subtropical grasslands, savannahs and shrublands

The tropical and subtropical grasslands, savannahs and shrublands biome is characterised by a wide array of natural vegetation types in which trees and grasses co-dominate in various proportions and compositions, ranging from grasslands where trees are virtually absent to forest-like formations including a grass layer such as the Miombo or Cerrado woodlands. It is considered likely that human influences have decreased the share of woody vegetation in many savannah areas, especially through changes in the fire regime. Fires are a naturally recurring phenomenon in this biome, in particular in the subhumid savannah areas, where vegetation biomass is highest. Similar to the temperate grasslands, savannah ecosystems in their natural state host large herds of big herbivores, whose place is nowadays often taken by domestic animals. Africa contains by far the largest areas of savannah world wide, but significant tracts of savannah are also found in South America and Australia (Grace et al. 2006).

Area extent of the biome, total carbon stock and mean carbon density

The tropical and subtropical grasslands, savannahs and shrublands biome covers an area of approximately 20.8 million km^2 . The total carbon stock within the biome is estimated at 285.3 Gigatonnes C (Trumper et al. 2009). The mean value of carbon density across the biome is 137 t C/ha.

Current land use and conservation status and expected trends

Many savannah areas, especially in the subhumid and semiarid zones, have been converted to cropland or are under intensive pastoral use (see Chapter 4.3). According to Safriel et al. (2005), dry subhumid African savannahs north of the equator now represent only 14 % of the original cover and are still retreating. Particularly high rates of conversion are currently reported from woodland savannahs in Brazil and Southern Africa. Cropland and pasture have already replaced nearly half of the Brazilian Cerrado. Between 2005 and 2008, the estimated yearly loss was more than 0.7 % of the original extent. In the Southern African Miombo woodlands, extraction of wood and land clearing for agriculture, as well as uncontrolled bush fire are leading to a continuous decline in natural land cover (SCBD 2010). Ciais et al. (2011) cite rates of deforestation of savannah woodlands of 1.1 per cent per year in Tanzania and 1 per cent per year in Zambia.

Human pressure on the savannah ecosystems is still increasing in other areas as well, and some sources estimate that even on global average more than one percent of savannah extent is lost annually to anthropogenic fires, cattle raising and agricultural activities (Trumper et al. 2009). In Africa and Latin America, there is still a significant share of potentially cultiva-

ble land which currently supports savannah ecosystems and might come under conversion pressure in future (Cassman et al. 2005).

Ecosystem carbon stocks and greenhouse gas balance

Above-ground biomass in savannah ecosystems is highly variable, depending on the degree of tree cover. Grace et al. (2006) report above ground carbon stocks ranging from 1.8 t C/ha where trees are absent, to over 30 t C/ha in areas with substantial tree cover. As a result of their study of literature data on savannah carbon stocks around the globe, they calculate mean values of 9.4 t C/ha for above ground biomass carbon, 19 t C/ha for below ground biomass carbon and 174 t C/ha for soil organic carbon. Amthor et al. (1998) cited values for tropical savannah of 29 t C/ha for total biomass carbon and 117 t C/ha for soil organic carbon.

Ciais et al. (2011) describe an example of a Mozambican miombo woodland with a tree biomass carbon content of about 30 t C/ha, and total soil organic carbon stock of about 110 t C/ha. They note that the soil organic matter distribution was not correlated with vegetation carbon stocks and was highly variable, presenting an additional complication for assessments of African carbon stocks. They also highlight the difficulty of monitoring changes in savannah woodlands with remote sensing and the fact that the uneven distribution of above ground biomass leads to a need for large sampling plots. Citing from published literature, they state that soil organic carbon stocks in African savannahs and woodlands range between 30 and 140 t C/ha.

Henry et al. (2009) calculated a mean soil organic carbon content of 31.5 t C/ha for the top 30 cm of soils in the African savannah biome, based on an analysis of four recent global digital soil maps and five soil properties databases. The values reported by Jobbagy and Jackson (2000) and Amundson (2001) are 230 t C/ha and 54 t C/ha, respectively.

As stated above, the main causes of pressure on savannah carbon stocks are agricultural conversion, heavy grazing and increased frequency or intensity of fire. Harvesting of wood biomass for fuel is another driver of carbon loss that can be locally or regionally significant (Prihodko et al. 2011, Kutsch et al. 2011). Zingore et al. (2005) measured long-term changes in soil organic carbon after the clearing of savannah woodlands for agriculture in Zimbabwe, and found losses of more than 20 t C/ha, depending on the soil type. Grace et al. (2006) assume that the loss and degradation of natural savannah vegetation constitutes a flux to the atmosphere that is comparable to that from the loss of tropical rainforests, and conclude that appropriate management could turn most savannah areas into significant carbon sinks, due to their high productivity and past degradation.

The effects of changing fire regimes on the greenhouse gas balance of savannah ecosystems are a subject of ongoing research. Fire events in savannahs can release huge amounts of carbon to the atmosphere (estimated at 0.5–4.2 Gt C per year globally as cited by Trumper et al. 2009), and according to Ciais et al. (2011), the African continent on average contributes 40 % of yearly global fire emissions, mostly from savannah burning.

Under favourable conditions, the carbon lost is mostly regained during the subsequent period of plant regrowth (Grace et al. 2006, Williams et al. 2007), which is why for accounting purposes the carbon balance of savannah fires is often assumed to be neutral (Ciais et al. 2011, Tropical savannahs CRC 2011). However, under a regime of frequent fires with high intensity, ecosystem carbon stocks can be depleted over time (Tropical savannahs CRC 2011). If all fires in the savannah biome could be excluded (which is a highly theoretical scenario),

some authors suggest that the global area of closed canopy forest would double, with most of the expansion being in African savannahs. Long-term fire exclusion experiments confirm a trend towards development of closed canopies in the more humid types of savannah (Ciais et al. 2011).

In addition to effects on ecosystem carbon stocks, the burning of standing biomass also leads to loss of nitrogen from the system and emissions of nitrous oxide and methane. One approach that has been proposed to reduce these emissions is strategic early dry season burning, which causes less intensive fires and may also be more beneficial to biodiversity than regimes determined by fire prevention and ensuing low frequency but high intensity fires (Tropical savannahs CRC 2011, Douglass et al. 2011). Strategic burning approaches have been traditionally applied by aboriginal populations in Australia, who maintained a fine-grained spatial pattern of small fires with low on-site recurrence (Safriel et al. 2005). Another option for fire management is the promotion of certain levels of grazing intensity by wild or domestic herbivore species in order to reduce fuel loads.

Knowledge gaps

In addition to remaining questions about the influence of different management methods and fire regimes on ecosystem carbon stocks and emissions of greenhouse gases, Ciais et al. (2011) note that savannahs are not yet well represented in terrestrial ecosystem models, and thus estimates of their contribution to the global carbon cycle are highly uncertain. This is due to a lack of in situ data for model calibration and the development of allometric equations, and to the fact that many models were developed for other regions. For example, most fire modules within global vegetation models are parametrized and tested in boreal and temperate systems. They also mention methane emissions from termite activity in savannahs as a process which is not yet well understood.

Because of the importance of fire in savannah ecosystems, non-greenhouse gas factors such as emission of soot particles and albedo effects are likely to have more of an influence on climate than in some other ecosystems (cp. Williams et al. 2007, Randerson et al. 2006). More studies analysing total net radiative forcing (i.e. the climatic effects of greenhouse gas emissions and sequestration and other ecological processes taken together) are needed to determine their comparative significance.

Trumper et al. (2008) point at the technical and statistical challenges of measuring changes in above and below ground carbon stocks over large areas in drylands with the required accuracy, and conclude that further research is required to demonstrate the feasibility of large area measurement schemes.

4.3.3 Deserts and dry shrublands

Deserts and dry shrublands are found in regions of very low or highly seasonal precipitation, including many parts of Africa, the southern USA and Mexico, parts of Asia and South America, and large areas of Australia. Depending on the rainfall regime and soil conditions, the vegetation consists mainly of slow growing woody shrubs and succulents and/or species capable of highly sporadic growth such as desert grasses.

Area extent of the biome, total carbon stock and mean carbon density

The deserts and dry shrublands biome covers an area of approximately 28.1 million km^2 , making it the largest of all terrestrial biomes. The total carbon stock within the biome is estimated at 178 Gigatonnes C (Trumper et al. 2009). The mean value of carbon density across the biome is 63.4 t C/ha.

Current land use and conservation status and expected trends

Although degradation as measured by negative trends in net primary productivity is less common in the desert and dry shrublands biome than in the more humid dryland zones due to lower densities of human settlement, substantial parts are used as extensive grazing land, and serious degradation of vegetation and soils occurs in some areas. Soils in arid regions may be stabilized by biogenic or mineral crusts which are sensitive to trampling by livestock (Safriel et al. 2005). Overharvesting of the slow-growing woody vegetation for firewood frequently leads to degradation of the shrub and tree components. Degradation is often localized around settlements and in locations with higher water availability and therefore higher potential primary productivity, such as along rivers or in areas with surface-near groundwater tables. Groundwater abstraction for irrigation is another possible cause of damage to the natural vegetation.

Ecosystem carbon stocks and greenhouse gas balance

Aboveground biomass in deserts and dry shrublands is dependent on the dominant plant forms but generally low. Fan et al. (2008) provide an average value of 1.17 t C/ha for above ground biomass carbon in grass-dominated temperate deserts in China, and 0.09 t C/ha for grass-dominated alpine deserts. They found average total vegetation carbon densities of 2.46 t C/ha in the temperate and 1.49 t C/ha in the alpine deserts. Amthor et al. (1998) cite an average value of 3.3 t C/ha for total biomass carbon in extreme deserts. WBGU (1998) mention an average vegetation carbon density for deserts and semi-deserts of 2 t C/ha. In shrub- or tree-dominated areas, carbon densities can be significantly higher.

Due to low decomposition rates in the arid environment, organic soil carbon stocks can be quite substantial. Henry et al. (2009) give a figure of 15.3 t C/ha for the top 30 cm of African desert and dry shrubland soils. Jobbagy and Jackson (2000), who considered soil profiles up to a depth of 3 m, calculate an average soil organic carbon content of 115 t C/ha. According to WBGU (1998), an average organic carbon content for desert and semi-desert soils would be 42 t C/ha. Amthor et al. (1998) cite values of 80 t C/ha for desert, semi-desert and scrubland soils, and 25 t C/ha for extreme desert soils. Amundson (2001) provides soil organic carbon values ranging from 14 t C/ha for warm deserts, 20 t C/ha for tropical desert bush, 99 t C/ha for cool deserts and 102 t C/ha for boreal deserts. According to Trumper et al. (2009), carbon content estimates for dry shrubland soils can be as high as 270 t C/ha.

Knowledge gaps

In addition to uncertainties about the distribution of soil carbon, there is a lack of data and considerable uncertainty on carbon uptake by deserts (Wohlfahrt et al. 2008, Schlesinger et al. 2009), as well as on the effects of land degradation on desert and dry shrubland carbon stocks.

4.4 Coastal ecosystems

Vegetated marine habitats can contribute to carbon storage not only through the growth and accumulation of plant biomass, but also through the export of organic matter such as parts or dissolved components of leaves and stalks to other systems, as well as through the trapping and burial of organic carbon in their sediments. The fate of exported organic matter is difficult to predict (as is the case with eroded soil organic matter in terrestrial systems), and no reliable estimates exist of its contribution to carbon storage (cp. Bouillon et al. 2008, Bouillon et al. 2009, Duarte and Cebrián 1996, Reed and Brzezinski 2009). Carbon burial rates, on the other hand, can be measured in a comparatively straightforward way although some difficulties exist in discerning between short-term and long-term stores (Kennedy and Björk 2009). In coastal marine ecosystems that have a dense cover of higher plants and occur on soft substrates with limited wave activity, the rate of carbon sequestration in sediments can be substantial (Nellemann et al. 2009, Laffoley and Grimsditch, 2009). The carbon which is buried in these sediments may originate from within the ecosystem or be imported by currents or tidal activity and intercepted as a result of the reduced velocity of water flow in the vegetated area (cp. Kennedy et al. 2010).

The three main types of coastal ecosystems with a potential for sediment carbon accumulation are mangroves, salt marshes and seagrass meadows. It has been estimated that the average carbon burial rates in sediments under these three vegetation types are more than 6000 times greater than the average burial rate in the open ocean, i.e. 1.23 t C/ha and year as compared to 0.00018 t C/ha and year (Nellemann et al. 2009). However, there is a high variability in sequestration rates between sites, as these rates depend on a range of factors including the plant species composition, environmental parameters such as water temperature and depth and exposure to waves and currents, and the location in relation to potential sources of organic matter input. Estimates of the total contribution of vegetated marine habitats to global carbon sequestration are further constrained by large uncertainties in data about their areal extent. Nellemann et al. (2009) cite figures according to which the total yearly carbon burial in mangroves, salt marshes and seagrass ecosystems is likely to be between 0.114 and 0.131 gigatonnes C.

Other coastal systems dominated by macroscopic plants, such as kelp forests, can also show high rates of primary productivity, but their overall contribution to carbon sequestration is difficult to assess and probably significantly lower due to the fact that they occur on rocky substrates exposed to strong waves and currents, so any dead or fragile plant material is washed away quickly (Reed and Brzezinski 2009).

Around the world, coastal marine ecosystems are suffering degradation from a range of pressures, including land- and ocean-based pollution, eutrophication, changes in sediment input via rivers and ocean currents leading to siltation or erosion, direct conversion to uses like aquaculture, extraction of sediment, destructive fishing practices, coastal development for terrestrial or marine transport infrastructure, settlements or coastal protection measures, and land reclamation for building or agriculture. For mangroves, direct harvesting of wood is another major cause of threat. Feedback effects between loss of vegetation and erosion can reinforce degradation processes.

Estimated rates of loss for the three coastal marine ecosystems described in this report (cp. 4.4.1 - 4.4.3), are higher than the conversion rates reported for any terrestrial ecosystem, and some authors fear that they might disappear from most of their remaining distribution range within the next 20 years (Nellemann et al. 2009). Duarte et al. (2005) estimate that the

decline of vegetated coastal habitats has already reduced the yearly carbon burial rates in the ocean by about 0.03 Gt C.

It seems very likely that pressures on ecosystems in coastal areas will continue to grow, as human population densities, already higher than in most inland areas, are projected to increase further and recreational use and demand for products from coastal agriculture, aquaculture and fisheries are on the rise. There is also a high certainty that anthropogenic climate change will place additional stress on coastal ecosystems through the combined effects of increasing air and water temperatures, changes in precipitation and ocean currents, and sea level rise (cp. Lovelock & Ellison 2007). According to current projections, the frequency and intensity of storm-related disturbances is also likely to increase (Agardy et al. 2005). The potential impacts on marine communities of ocean acidification as a result of higher concentrations of atmospheric carbon dioxide are a subject of intensive research but still not well understood (cp. Doney et al. 2009).

Efforts to restore natural coastal ecosystems are increasingly undertaken, most notably for mangroves. However, such activities may require substantial initial investment and need to be well planned in order to be effective (Nellemann et al. 2009, Agardy et al. 2005). The potential for carbon sequestration is not yet widely taken into account when locations and methods for restoration activities are chosen. Additional research is needed to improve guidance on best practice for the design of climate-friendly restoration projects (Nellemann et al. 2009, Bouillon et al. 2009).

Box 2: A note on coral reefs:

Judging from the amounts of carbon contained in the calcium carbonate skeletons of reef-building corals, some authors have concluded that coral reefs constitute a major carbon sink. However, this is not in line with the generally accepted scientific understanding of the chemical processes involved in the formation of reef carbonate.

Put very simply, the chemical compounds that play a role in calcification are carbon dioxide (as dissolved in the sea water), its hydrated form carbonic acid (H_2CO_3), the dissociated components of carbonic acid - bicarbonate anions (HCO_3^{-}), carbonate anions ($CO_3^{2^-}$) and hydrogen ions (H^+) – and calcium cations (Ca^{2^+}). The chemical processes linked to calcification are as follows: the formation of calcium carbonate from calcium cations (Ca^{2^+}) and bicarbonate anions (HCO_3^{-}) that are dissolved in the sea water releases hydrogen ions (H^+). The resulting increase in hydrogen ion concentrations pushes the balance between hydrated carbon dioxide, i.e. carbonic acid (H_2CO_3), and its dissociated components, bicarbonate anions (HCO_3^{-}) and hydrogen ions (H^+), towards formation of the former. This in turn facilitates the release of carbon dioxide from its hydrated form (i.e. carbonic acid, H_2CO_3) to the non-hydrated form (CO_2) and its evasion into the atmosphere.

Thus, the formation of reef carbonate constitutes a small source of atmospheric carbon dioxide. This process could be reversed if the pH of sea water drops beyond a certain level and the carbonate starts to dissolve. Carbonate dissolution would then act as a temporary buffer to further declines in pH. The likelihood that ocean acidification will lead to the crossing of a threshold from net calcification to net dissolution in coral reefs is a matter of scientific debate.

For a fuller discussion of the issues addressed above, see Smith and Gattuso (2009). The main conclusion to draw from this is that coral reefs, while providing many outstanding services to humans including livelihood security and services that are highly relevant for climate change adaptation (cp. Wilkinson 2008), do not generally contribute to climate change mitigation.

4.4.1 Mangroves

Mangroves form the natural vegetation of shallow coastal areas in tropical and subtropical Asia, Africa, Latin America and Australia. It is assumed that about 30 % of the current global extent of mangrove forests are situated on the territories of Indonesia and Australia (Bouillon et al. 2009). Mangroves can tolerate a wide range of salinities and levels of exposure to waves and tides, resulting in the formation of subtypes with different species composition and ecological characteristics. Mangrove areas can be divided into three zones, each with distinctive physical, geomorphological and ecological characteristics. While riverine mangroves receive high levels of freshwater, nutrient and sediment input, fringing mangroves are in direct contact with the open ocean and are a net source of organic matter export. Interior basin mangroves are least exposed to physical impacts and characterized by net sedimentation (Agardy et al. 2005).

Area extent

Recent estimates of the current extent of mangrove ecosystems range between 0.11 and 0.24 million km² (Nellemann et al. 2009, see also Giri et al. 2011), with most of the published values tending towards the lower end of this range. Bouillon et al. (2009) considered 0.15 - 0.16 million km² the best estimate. Spalding et al. (2010) analysed data for 113 countries and arrived at an overall mangrove cover of 0.15 million km². Most recently, Giri et al. (2011), based on their interpretation of Global Land Survey data and data from the Landsat archive, calculated that the total global area of mangroves in the year 2000 was 0.14 million km², distributed across 118 countries and territories.

Current land use and conservation status and expected trends

According to some sources, mangroves once occurred along 75 % of all tropical coasts (Bouillon et al. 2009). Historic settlement patterns have led to the development of centres of urbanization in the vicinity of both major coral reefs and extensive mangrove stands. It is estimated that 64 % of the world's mangroves are currently situated within 25 km of urban centres with more than 100,000 inhabitants (Agardy et al. 2005), which indicates a high potential for anthropogenic pressure.

Estimates of the area that has been lost due to overharvesting, degradation and conversion to agriculture, aquaculture or other land uses range from 35 % since the 1940s to over 70 % in total (Bouillon et al. 2009, Agardy et al. 2005). Agardy et al. (2005) state that sufficient data to assess the extent of mangrove decline exist only for about half of the current distribution area, and that in nearly all countries for which multiyear data exist dramatic declines are documented. There is a high regional variation, and some countries in Southeast Asia are reported to have lost almost 90 % of their mangroves (Bouillon et al. 2009). About half of the overall reduction in mangrove area is believed to be a result of conversion to aquaculture (Agardy et al. 2005).

According to SCBD (2010), data provided by the FAO indicates that the annual global rate of loss of mangrove cover has decreased by 45 % over the past 25 years, from 1,850 km² per year during the 1980s to 1,020 km² per year between 2000 and 2005. However, this moderately positive trend has not been observed in Asia, which is the region holding the largest share of remaining mangroves.

The development of restoration techniques for mangroves is relatively advanced, but current restoration efforts are hardly sufficient to have a significant effect in slowing the decline (Agardy et al. 2005, Spalding et al. 2010)

Ecosystem carbon stocks and greenhouse gas balance

According to Bouillon et al. (2009), the average biomass carbon density of mangroves is on the order of 79 t C/ha, leading to an estimate of global biomass carbon stock of 1.2 gigatonnes C. The authors do not provide corresponding values for sediment carbon content, stating that there is insufficient information on sediment depths and densities. However, they note that the proportional carbon content of sediments varies widely, from less than 0.5 % of the dry weight to nearly 40 %, with a global median value of 2.2 %.

Donato et al. (2011) analysed biomass and soil carbon contents in transects across 25 mangrove sites of the Indo-Pacific region. They found above ground carbon pools with an average of 159 t C/ha and a maximum of 435 t C/ha. Below ground pools including soil organic carbon accounted for 71-98 % of total ecosystem carbon in estuarine sites and 49-90 % in oceanic sites. Average total ecosystem carbon within their sample of sites was 1,023 t C/ha, with estuarine sites showing slightly higher carbon densities than oceanic ones. Kauffman et al. (2011) studied two mangrove areas in Micronesia and found that they contained average ecosystem carbon stocks of 718 t C/ha and 1,062 t C/ha, respectively, with soils containing around 70 % of the total carbon stock.

Murray et al. (2011) state that biomass carbon densities in mangrove forests range between 65 and 153 t C/ha, and that average sediment organic carbon contents in the first meter are around 290 t C/ha for estuarine sites and 490 t C/ha for oceanic ones, adding that estuarine mangroves usually have deeper layers of organic soil than oceanic ones.

According to Nellemann et al. (2009), reported values of carbon burial rates in mangrove sediments range between 0.2 and 6.54 t C/ha and year, with an average value of 1.39 t C/ha and year. Murray et al. (2011) provide an average value for carbon sequestration in mangrove ecosystems of 1.7 t C/ha and year.

Clearing of mangroves can result in a rapid decline of sediment organic carbon stocks, particularly if the sediment is eroded or disturbed (e.g. in the establishment of shrimp farms). Bouillon et al. (2009) cite a study according to which up to 50 % of the sediment carbon can be lost within less than 10 years. Lovelock et al. (2011) found emission rates of around 29 t C/ha during the first year after clearance, with emissions gradually declining to around 8.2 t C/ha and year after 20 years. Donato et al. (2011) estimate that between 112 and 392 t C/ha are released after mangrove clearance, depending in large part on the subsequent land use and how deeply it affects soil carbon. Based on these values, they calculate yearly global emissions from mangrove deforestation of 0.02 to 0.12 gigatonnes of carbon.

In low saline areas, eutrophication can lead to significant emissions of nitrous oxide and methane from mangrove sediments (Allen et al. 2011).

With regard to the potential mitigation benefits of mangrove restoration, Bouillon et al. (2009) state that available information from mangrove plantations and sites undergoing rehabilitation indicates that the productivity of replanted mangrove ecosystems can reach a similar level to that of natural stands. However, restoration requires appropriate planning and design (e.g. choice of species and planting methods that are suited to the site, selection of sites with a high potential for mitigation) and can be problematic if the sediment conditions have changed as a result of the degradation process.

Knowledge gaps

In order to improve the knowledge base for mitigation activities in mangroves, further research is needed into the factors that determine the distribution and accumulation of sediment organic carbon at various scales (cp. Alongi 2011), as well as into the impact of different kinds of disturbance (including eutrophication) on fluxes of carbon and nitrogen between mangroves, adjacent ecosystems and the atmosphere. Addressing the uncertainties around the current area extent, geographic distribution and rate of decline of mangroves will require the use of consistent protocols for the analysis of data from remote sensing in combination with ground-truthing and review by local experts (Fitzgerald et al. 2011). Further work is also needed on restoration methods that are efficient for achieving mitigation as well as other benefits.

4.4.2 Tidal saltmarshes

Salt marshes occur on sheltered sections of marine and estuarine coastlines in the intertidal zone, which is regularly exposed to the atmosphere. Although their distribution ranges from the sub-Arctic to the tropics, they are most common in temperate climates (Chmura 2009).

Area extent

Laffoley and Grimsditch (2009) point out that there are particularly large uncertainties around the total area extent of tidal salt marshes, and cite a figure of 0.22 million km^2 . Nellemann et al. (2009) state that the global coverage of tidal salt marshes is likely to be on the order of 0.4 million km^2 .

Current land use and conservation status and expected trends

Between 25 % (Nellemann et al. 2009) and 50 % (Crooks et al. 2011) of the area originally covered by salt marshes are believed to have been lost, with current rates of loss at about 1 to 2 % per year. The main processes leading to salt marsh destruction are land reclamation for agriculture, dredging and coastal development. Pollution and eutrophication through agricultural runoff and sewage water can also contribute to degradation. In the context of climate change, salt marshes may be particularly vulnerable to 'coastal squeeze', i.e. the loss of area due to sea level rise without the possibility to shift inland because of coastal infrastructure.

Efforts to restore salt marshes have been carried out to a limited extent, mostly in Europe and the USA. In recent years, the possibility to use salt marshes as a 'soft' measure of coastal protection has received increasing attention. Up to a certain rate of sea level rise, salt marshes can adapt through accretion of sediment. They can also form a buffer zone protecting coastal infrastructure against damage from storm surges. The restoration of drained saltmarshes can slow or reverse the process of land subsidence caused by mineralisation of organic matter under aerobic conditions, and thus combine carbon savings with increased resilience to flooding. For case studies on the carbon emissions and land subsidence that occurred as a consequence of drainage in a number of major river deltas around the world, and an assessment of the potential for restoration, see Crooks et al. (2011). Reduced sediment inputs as a result of river regulation or coastal protection measures can decrease the ability of salt marshes to adapt to rising sea levels.

Ecosystem carbon stocks and greenhouse gas balance

Chmura (2009) cites a global estimate of 0.43 gigatonnes of carbon for the organic carbon content of the upper 50 cm of tidal salt marsh soils, stating that this is likely to be an underestimation as salt marsh soils usually contain significant amounts of carbon up to several meters of depth and the applied estimate of total global area of salt marshes is likely to be too low. Murray et al. (2011) cite average values for biomass carbon density in salt marsh soil around 3-16 t C/ha, and for soil organic carbon content in the first meter of salt marsh sediment of 250 t C/ha.

According to Nellemann et al. (2009), reported values of carbon burial rates in tidal salt marshes range between 0.18 and 17.3 t C/ha and year, with an average value of 1.51 t C/ha and year. The significant variation is partly due to differences in species composition. Chmura (2009) provides a figure of 2.1 t C/ha and year for long term carbon accumulation in the sediment, and points out that a beneficial feature of salt marshes is their low potential for the production of methane, due to the presence of sulphates in the soil which inhibit the activity

of methane-producing microbes. In tidal marshes characterized by brackish conditions (as they occur in estuaries), rates of methane production are often significantly higher and can be quite variable, which constitutes a challenge for the estimation of greenhouse gas balances (Poffenbarger et al. 2011).

Following drainage and conversion, a significant part of the carbon stored in tidal salt marsh soils can be released as carbon dioxide (Murray et al. 2011).

Enrichment of coastal wetlands with nitrogen may increase the release of nitrous oxide (Chmura 2009). The global warming potential of nitrous oxide over a period of 100 years is considered by the IPCC to be about 298 times higher than that of carbon dioxide (Forster et al. 2007).

Knowledge gaps

In addition to more precise information on the geographic distribution, rates of loss and degradation, total organic carbon stocks and sequestration potential of tidal saltmarshes, an improved understanding is needed of the likely impacts of sea level rise on saltmarsh ecosystems, and of their potential to deliver simultaneous benefits for climate change mitigation and adaptation. It is likely that critical thresholds for the capacity of saltmarshes to adapt to sea level rise will depend not only on the extent, but also on the speed of the change in sea levels.

4.4.3 Seagrass meadows

Seagrass meadows are found in shallow waters of all continents except the Antarctic on softbottom substrates. They are made up of a range of different species from various genera. Seagrasses form highly persistent roots and rhizomes, leading to large stores of underground biomass.

Area extent

The area extent of seagrass meadows is not well known. While the documented area is 0.12 million km^2 , upper estimates based on suitable distribution areas amount to 0.6 million km^2 (Green & Short 2003). Particularly large areas of potential seagrass habitat with limited data availability are found in South East Asia (Nellemann et al. 2009). Nellemann et al. (2009) cite 0.33 million km^2 as the most likely figure, taking into account recently observed declines.

Current use and conservation status and expected trends

Seagrasses require high light intensities and clear water, and are particularly susceptible to eutrophication and siltation. Other anthropogenic pressures include dredging, coastal development, destructive fishing practices, pollution, and shifts in community composition as a result of overfishing of fish and invertebrates that feed on algae. Major losses of seagrass habitat have been reported from the Mediterranean, Florida Bay and Australia (Agardy et al. 2005).

According to Waycott et al. (2009), the global extent of seagrass meadows has already been reduced by around one third, with an accelerating trend. The authors estimate that the rate of area loss was still at 0.9 % per year in the 1970s and has increased to more than 7 % per year since 2000. This would make seagrass meadows one of the most threatened ecosystems in the world. Kennedy and Björk (2009) even cite figures according to which the areal

extent of seagrasses has been reduced by 50 % over a period of about 15 years. It is expected that present losses will accelerate in particular in Southeast Asia and the Caribbean (SCBD 2010).

Restoration of seagrass meadows is technically difficult and costly and is currently not practised on a significant scale (Nellemann et al. 2009). Reducing pressure on still existing meadows seems to be a more practicable option.

Ecosystem carbon stocks and greenhouse gas balance

Kennedy and Björk (2009) cite estimates for average biomass carbon density in seagrass meadows of around 1.84 t C/ha, and for soil carbon of around 70 t C/ha, noting that in the most productive types of seagrass beds soil carbon stocks can be as high as 1,600 t C/ha. Using an intermediate estimate of seagrass distribution area, this would yield a value for total global carbon stock in seagrass meadows of 2.16 gigatonnes C. Murray et al. (2011) cite average values of 0.1-5 t C/ha for biomass carbon and 136 t C/ha for soil organic carbon content in the first meter of seagrass meadow sediments.

Knowledge on carbon accumulation in seagrass meadows is limited, and the main part of the available data originates from the Mediterranean Sea (Kennedy and Björk 2009). The seagrass species *Posidonia oceanica*, which is endemic to the Mediterranean, is capable of accumulating underground root mattes of several meters' depth and is considered to be the most effective species in terms of long term carbon storage. It is not yet clear whether and which other species make similarly high contributions to carbon burial.

According to Nellemann et al. (2009), reported values of long-term carbon burial rates in seagrass meadows range between 0.56 and 1.82 t C/ha and year, with an average value of 0.83 t C/ha and year. Kennedy and Björk (2009) calculate global rates of carbon sequestration in seagrass meadows of 0.027 - 0.04 gigatonnes per year, while the calculations provided by Kennedy et al. (2010) lead to a global estimate of carbon burial in seagrass meadows between 0.05 and 0.11 gigatonnes per year.

Management activities that reduce nutrient loads to coastal waters can allow for a recovery of degraded seagrass beds. However, the potential effects of such activities on carbon sequestration are difficult to estimate.

Knowledge gaps

As indicated above, more accurate information on the distribution and conservation status of seagrass beds especially in South East Asia, and on the influence of species composition on ecosystem carbon stocks and sequestration rates, are among the most pressing research needs with regard to the potential of seagrass ecosystems for climate change mitigation (cp. Duarte et al. 2011). Ongoing research into the biogeography of seagrass species and the capacities of different species for carbon burial may help to significantly improve estimates of the total global carbon stock and sequestration potential of seagrass beds. More information is also needed on rates of carbon loss from degraded seagrass beds and on effective methods for seagrass restoration, including the identification of suitable areas.

5 Analysis of possible priorities for action

Many criteria can be used to rank options for ecosystem based mitigation activities, both in terms of the ecosystems to be addressed and the activities to be implemented. With regard to the potential benefits for climate change mitigation from individual projects, the possible emission and sequestration rates per hectare come to mind as most directly relevant:

- Information on rates of sequestration in natural or sustainably managed ecosystems, as well as on possible emissions through their degradation or conversion, can be used to estimate the potential benefits from approaches to reduce pressures acting on these ecosystems. It is worth noting that mitigation benefits in the form of avoided emissions may be high even where sequestration rates are low.
- Information on possible rates of sequestration during the recovery or rehabilitation of degraded ecosystems can be used to estimate the potential benefits from approaches to restore ecosystem carbon stocks, and the time scales over which these benefits could be realized.

However, other types of information should be considered as well:

- Scenarios and projections related to the future development of pressures (including land use as well as climate change) on ecosystem carbon stocks and greenhouse gas balances are important in order to estimate the actual mitigation benefits of interventions as compared to business as usual. They can also help to assess the long-term viability of achieved results.
- The potential off-site impacts and indirect effects of different types of measures and activities need to be taken into account, taking a systems perspective in order to assess the risk of displacement/leakage effects and other unintended outcomes, and the net benefits that would be achieved. For a discussion of some of the complexities surrounding predictions of the net impacts of land use-related policies, see Angelsen (2010).
- The nature and extent of possible contributions to the achievement of other environmental or socio-economic goals, such as biodiversity conservation, food security, poverty reduction and climate change adaptation, are likely to be of importance both for the funding institutions and for stakeholders in the project area and at the national level. This links with the wider question of political acceptability.
- Assessments of the practical feasibility of interventions should be carried out, taking into account technical, socio-economic and political aspects. Implementation and opportunity costs will be another key determinant of the likelihood of success.
- The quality of the knowledge base and available implementation and accounting methodologies for a specific activity will determine whether it is appropriate for one-off interventions, or whether it could most usefully be addressed as part of a comprehensive pilot programme including a scientific component.
- The total area extent of the ecosystem type and the relative importance of the pressures to be addressed can provide an indication of the potential for upscaling lessons learned from projects and for applying the developed methods and tools more widely.

A preliminary assessment of options for action with regard to the ecosystem types considered in this report, taking into account the above considerations, is given as follows.

Tundra

Although the high-end estimates of the carbon density of tundra ecosystems are comparable to carbon densities in forest ecosystems (estimates for which range broadly between 150 and 450 t C/ha, depending on forest type; Trumper et al. 2009), the main threats to tundra carbon stocks are related to climate change. There seem to be no major opportunities for beneficial interventions other than climate change mitigation more broadly.

Temperate grasslands, savannahs and shrublands

The reported estimates of the carbon density of ecosystems in the temperate grasslands, savannahs and shrublands biome are comparable to the lower range of estimates for carbon densities in forest.

Due to the extent of past degradation, projects aimed at rehabilitating degraded landscapes could have a high potential for carbon sequestration as well as for socio-economic benefits and climate change adaptation, incurring very low opportunity costs and avoiding leakage risks. However, required initial investments for implementation are likely to be high and biodiversity benefits may be moderate unless restoration activities can take pressure off other valuable habitats. Depending on the causes of degradation, rehabilitation may need to involve restoration of vegetative cover as well as reversal of changes in hydrological regimes.

Projects improving the management of over-utilized grazing lands could be highly costefficient by combining increased productivity with climate change mitigation benefits and increased resilience to climate change (cp. Conant 2010).

For some temperate grassland areas, improved fire management may also offer opportunities for climate change mitigation, especially where fire regimes have been changed as a direct or indirect consequence of human activity (e.g. increasing frequency of fires due to reduced densities of wild grazing animals).

Projects aimed at avoiding further conversion of natural habitats could yield high benefits in terms of avoided emissions and biodiversity conservation where appropriate, and are likely to require low public investment. Associated socio-economic impacts and risks of displacement of activities would need to be assessed. Projects could build on emerging accounting methodologies.

Conversion of temperate grasslands to tree plantations has been discussed as a further ecosystem-based mitigation option. However, such projects are unlikely to produce biodiversity benefits and location, design and management regimes need to be chosen carefully in order to avoid negative ecological and socio-economic impacts.

Tropical and subtropical grasslands, savannahs and shrublands

Most estimates of the carbon density of ecosystems in the tropical and subtropical grasslands, savannahs and shrublands biome are slightly lower than the values reported for forests. At the same time, due to currently high rates of degradation and conversion, emissions from unsustainable land use activities in this biome may equal emissions from tropical deforestation (cp. Grace et al. 2006).

Interventions aiming to achieve sustainable land use patterns will face major challenges in this biome due to high population pressure and often low institutional capacities for environ-

mental management, but could yield significant socio-economic, adaptation and biodiversity benefits if they succeed.

Due to the fact that pastoral systems in savannah areas are often not supported by clear property rights, attempts to create financial incentives related to carbon sequestration through improved grazing regimes are likely to be difficult and innovative solutions may need to be found (Conant 2010).

Projects aiming to improve fire management could combine socio-economic and environmental benefits, incur relatively low cost and build on emerging accounting methodologies.

Projects focussing on the maintenance or restoration of the tree component in savannah woodlands can earn carbon credits by building on existing methodologies for reducing emissions from deforestation and enhancing forest carbon stocks. On the downside, the risk of negative impacts through displacement of pressures from forest areas as a consequence of measures to reduce deforestation and forest degradation is particularly high in savannah ecosystems, and REDD+ initiatives should address this.

With regard to afforestation of savannahs (i.e. planting trees in a density that would not occur without human intervention), the same ecological and socio-economic considerations need to be taken into account as for afforestation of temperate grasslands.

Deserts and dry shrublands

Average carbon densities in this biome are lower than for any other area. However, variability among different types of desert and dry shrubland ecosystems is high, and some dry shrubland systems in particular come close to the carbon stock values for dry forest. Addressing degradation of such systems could be a worthwhile activity providing substantial climate change mitigation, biodiversity and socio-economic benefits. Due to low rates of productivity, the potential for restoration projects to contribute to carbon sequestration is likely to be relatively small.

Mangroves

Reported carbon stocks, sequestration capacities and potential emissions from conversion of mangrove ecosystems are higher than those estimated for terrestrial forests, and high rates of decline imply that successful initiatives for conservation and restoration could achieve significant mitigation benefits. At the same time, mangroves provide a wide range of livelihood benefits and other environmental services including coastal protection and disaster prevention, timber and non-timber forest products, as well as habitat and nursery functions for commercially relevant fish species and threatened biodiversity. Depending on environmental conditions, rates of sediment accretion in mangrove stands can be high, contributing to the potential for adaptation to sea level rise (cp. McKee 2010). Appropriate management of mangroves can further enhance their resilience to climate change (cp. McLeod & Salm 2006).

Projects aimed at maintaining or rehabilitating mangrove ecosystems have been shown in a number of case studies to provide net economic gains to society, even though they may restrict the economic opportunities of individual stakeholders (cp. Spalding et al. 2010, Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005, TEEB 2009). Because of the importance of mangrove ecosystem goods and services for local populations, supporting sustainable livelihood options should be a central component of interventions.

Activities can be linked with REDD+ initiatives and build on emerging specific accounting standards. A review of methods to quantify impacts of human activity on greenhouse gas emissions in wetlands, including tidally influenced wetlands like mangrove, saltmarsh, seagrass and tidal freshwater systems, is currently being carried out by the IPCC and is expected to be concluded by 2013.

Tidal saltmarshes

Reported carbon sequestration rates in tidal saltmarshes are comparable to those of mangroves, and estimated rates of loss are giving similar reason for concern. Projects combining climate change adaptation and mitigation in tidal saltmarshes could bring significant advantages where they are realistic given current coastal settlement and infrastructure patterns. Due to the fact that most tidal saltmarshes are situated in developed countries, the possibility for synergies with poverty reduction is low. Activities can build on emerging accounting standards (see above).

Seagrass meadows

Seagrass meadows have important ecological functions (including forage, habitat and nursery functions for fish, marine mammals and reptiles, molluscs and other species, sediment stabilization, and buffering of coral reefs against siltation and pollution) that are estimated to deliver large economic benefits to society (cp. Duarte et al. 2008), and appear to be highly threatened. However, due to the extent of uncertainty with regard to their carbon contents and storage rates, it seems too early to make a conclusive assessment of their mitigation potential. Also, projects trying to address climate change by conserving or restoring seagrass ecosystems will face large difficulties related to monitoring as well as to demonstrating causality, as the pressures acting on seagrass meadows mostly originate from land-based activities which can take place at a large distance from the area of impact. Where such projects are undertaken, they should have a strong research component.

Efforts to restore seagrass ecosystems should be concentrated in areas where the root causes for decline (e.g. eutrophication and sedimentation) can be addressed, as they are unlikely to succeed otherwise.

6 Conclusion

As discussed in this paper, with few exceptions most ecosystem types have the potential to serve as a basis for ecosystem-based mitigation approaches, due to the fact that they hold significant carbon stocks and are suffering from a variety of anthropogenic pressures that lead to the depletion of these stocks. This potential should be used more widely, and measures for the conservation, restoration and sustainable use of ecosystems and their carbon stocks should be implemented in a way that provides multiple benefits for climate change mitigation, adaptation and other social and environmental goals.

Challenges are likely to include the reconciliation of competing demands for land in order to arrive at management regimes that are both sustainable and acceptable to stakeholders, and the development of knowledge and methodological approaches in order to plan for, measure and verify the success of interventions.

With regard to remaining gaps in knowledge, there are good reasons to invest in the improvement of data on carbon stocks and greenhouse gas fluxes for understudied regions, ecosystems, carbon pools (e.g. soil carbon), greenhouse gases or activities, both through further field studies and through desk reviews of existing literature, as well as in the development of simple accounting tools and methodologies, including regionally appropriate default values, indicator-based approaches and computer-based modelling.

More information is also needed on the likely impacts of climate change and associated phenomena, such as sea level rise and elevated carbon dioxide concentrations, on ecosystem carbon stocks.

Finally, the potential synergies and trade-offs between the climate-related benefits and other positive environmental and social outcomes from different kinds of ecosystem-based mitigation measures should be investigated more closely.

Pilot projects with appropriate scientific support could help to test and demonstrate the feasibility of new approaches and at the same time enhance the knowledge base on the climate relevance of ecosystems other than forests and peatlands, and on best practices for strengthening their role in climate change mitigation. In the long run, such projects could pave the way for the development of results-based incentive systems for a broad portfolio of ecosystem-based mitigation activities.

Where suitable accounting methodologies are already available, existing and/or emerging mechanisms that can (and should) be used to support ecosystem-based mitigation activities beyond forests and peatlands are the development of carbon credits for the voluntary market, the development of Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions (NAMAs) in developing countries, and direct support to climate change mitigation from governments, environmental funds and organizations.

References

- ABIDEEN, Z., ANSARI, R., KHAN, M. A. (2011): Halophytes: Potential source of ligno-cellulosic biomass for ethanol production. Biomass and Bioenergy 35: 1818-1822.
- AGARDY, T., ALDER, J., DAYTON, P., CURRAN, S., KITCHINGMAN, A., WILSON, M., CATENAZZI, A., RESTREPO, J., BIRKELAND, C., BLABER, S., SAIFULLAH, S., BRANCH, G., BOERSMA, D., NIXON, S., DUGAN, P., DAVIDSON, N., VÖRÖSMARTY, C. (2005): Coastal Systems. UN Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. Chapter 19. pp. 513-548.
- ALLEN, D., DALAL, R. C., RENNENBERG, H. AND SCHMIDT, S. (2011): Seasonal variation in nitrous oxide and methane emissions from subtropical estuary and coastal mangrove sediments, Australia. Plant Biology, 13: 126–133. doi: 10.1111/j.1438-8677.2010.00331.x.
- ALONGI, D. M. (2011): Carbon payments for mangrove conservation: ecosystem constraints and uncertainties in sequestration potential. Environ Sci Pol 14: 462–470.
- AMTHOR, J. S., DALE, V. H., EDWARDS, N. T., GARTEN, C. T., GUNDERSON, C. A., HANSON, P. J., HUSTON, M. A., KING, A. W., LUXMOORE, R. J., MCLAUGHLIN, S. B., MARLAND, G., MUL-HOLLAND, P. J., NORBY, R. J., O'NEILL, E. G., O'NEILL, R. V., POST, W. M., SHRINER, D. S., TODD, D. E., TSCHAPLINSKI, T. J., TURNER, R. S., TUSKAN, G. A., WULLSCHLEGER, S. D. (1998): Terrestrial Ecosystem Responses to Global Change: a Research Strategy. Report by the Ecosystems Working Group. Environmental Sciences Division Publication No. 4821. U.S. Department of Energy.
- AMUNDSON, R. (2001). The carbon budget in soils. Annual Review of Earth and Planetary Sciences 29, 535-562.
- ANGELSEN, A. (2010): Policies for reduced deforestation and their impact on agricultural production. PNAS (107) 46: 19639–19644.
- BAI, Z. G., D. L. DENT, L. OLSSON AND M. E. SCHAEPMAN (2008): Global assessment of land degradation and improvement. 1. Identification by remote sensing. Report 2008/01, IS-RIC – World Soil Information, Wageningen. LADA technical Report no. 12.
- BAI, Z. G., JONG, R. DE, VAN LYNDEN, G. W. J. (2010): An update of GLADA Global assessment of land degradation and improvement. ISRIC report 2010/08, ISRIC – World Soil Information, Wageningen
- BOUILLON, S., BORGES, A. V., CASTAÑEDA-MOYA, E., DIELE, K., DITTMAR, T., DUKE, N. C., KRISTENSEN, E., LEE, S. Y., MARCHAND, C., MIDDELBURG, J. J., RIVERA-MONROY, V. H., SMITH, T. J. AND R. R. TWILLEY (2008): Mangrove production and carbon sinks: A revision of global budget estimates, Global Biogeochem. Cycles, 22, GB2013
- BOUILLON, S., RIVERA-MONROY, V., TWILLEY, R., KAIRO, J. (2009): Mangroves. In: Laffoley, D.d'A. & Grimsditch, G. (eds.): The management of natural coastal carbon sinks. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland. 53 pp
- CASSMAN, K. G., WOOD, S., CHOO, P. S., COOPER, H. D., DEVENDRA, C., DIXON, J., GASKELL, J., KHAN, S., LAL, R., LIPPER, L., PRETTY, J., PRIMAVERA, J., RAMANKUTTY, N., VIGLIZZO, E., WIEBE, K. (2005): Cultivated Systems. UN Millennium Ecosystem Assessment Chapter 26. pp. 745-794
- CHAPIN, F. S., BERMAN, M., CALLAGHAN, T. V., CONVEY, P., CRÉPIN, A., DANELL, K., DUCKLOW, H., FORBES, B., KOFINAS, G., MCGUIRE, A. D., NUTTALL, M., VIRGINIA, R., YOUNG, O., ZI-MOV, S. (2005): Polar Systems. UN Millennium Ecosystem Assessment Chapter 25. pp. 717-743.
- CHMURA, G. (2009): Tidal Salt Marshes. In: Laffoley, D.d'A. & Grimsditch, G. (eds.): The management of natural coastal carbon sinks. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland. 53 pp

- CIAIS, P., BOMBELLI, A., WILLIAMS, M., PIAO, S. L., CHAVE, J., RYAN, C. M., HENRY, M., BREN-DER, P., VALENTINI, R. (2011): The carbon balance of Africa: synthesis of recent research studies. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A (2011) 369, 1–20
- COAD L., BURGESS, N.D., BOMHARD, B. AND BESANCON, C. (2009): Progress on the Convention on Biological Diversity's 2010 and 2012 Targets for Protected Area Coverage. A technical report for the IUCN international workshop "Looking to the Future of the CBD Programme of Work on Protected Areas", Jeju Island, Republic of Korea, 14-17 September 2009. UNEP-WCMC, Cambridge, UK.
- CONANT, R. (2010): Challenges and opportunities for carbon sequestration in grassland systems. A technical report on grassland management and climate change mitigation. Integrated Crop Management Vol. 9–2010.
- CROOKS, S., HERR, D., TAMELANDER, J., LAFFOLEY, D., VANDEVER, J. (2011): Mitigating Climate Change through Restoration and Management of Coastal Wetlands and Nearshore Marine Ecosystems: Challenges and Opportunities. Environment Department Paper 121, World Bank, Washington, DC.
- DE DEYN, G. B., CORNELISSEN, J. H. C., AND BARDGETT, R. D. (2008). Plant functional traits and soil carbon sequestration in contrasting biomes. Ecology Letters 11, 516-531.
- DONATO, D. C., KAUFFMAN, J. B., MURDIYARSO, D., KURNIANTO, S., STIDHAM, M., KANNINEN, M. (2011): Mangroves among the most carbon-rich forests in the tropics. Nature Geoscience Letters. NGEO1123.
- DONEY, S.C., BALCH, W.M., FABRY, V.J., FEELY, R.A. (2009): Ocean acidification: A critical emerging problem for the ocean sciences. Oceanography 22(4):16–25.
- DOUGLASS, L. L., POSSINGHAM, H. P., CARWARDINE, J., KLEIN, C. J., ROXBURGH, S. H., ET AL. (2011) The Effect of Carbon Credits on Savanna Land Management and Priorities for Biodiversity Conservation. PLoS ONE 6(9): e23843
- DUARTE, C. M., CEBRIÁN, J. (1996): The fate of marine autotrophic production. Limnol. Oceanogr., 41(8), 1996, 1758-1766.
- DUARTE, C. M., DENNISON, W. C., ORTH, R. J. W., CARRUTHERS, T. J. B. (2008): The Charisma of Coastal Ecosystems: Addressing the Imbalance. Estuaries and Coasts: J CERF (2008) 31:233–238.
- DUARTE, C. M., KENNEDY, H., MARBÀ, N., HENDRIKS, I. (2011): Assessing the capacity of seagrass meadows for carbon burial: current limitations and future strategies. Ocean & Coastal Management doi:10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2011.09.001.
- DUARTE, C. M., MIDDELBURG, J. J., AND CARACO, N. (2005). Major role of marine vegetation on the oceanic carbon cycle. Biogeosciences 2, 1-8.
- FAN, J., ZHONG, H., HARRIS, W., YU, G., WANG, S., HU, Z., AND YUE, Y. (2008). Carbon storage in the grasslands of China based on field measurements of above- and below-ground biomass. Climatic Change 86, 375-396.
- FITZGERALD, C., GIRI, C., KAINUMA, M., LATHAM, J., LOYCHE WILKIE, M., SINGH, A., SPALDING, M., WOOD, L. (2011): Global mangrove mapping techniques: a comparison of two approaches and their implications for real world decision making. Poster.
- FORSTER, P., V. RAMASWAMY, P. ARTAXO, T. BERNTSEN, R. BETTS, D.W. FAHEY, J. HAYWOOD, J. LEAN, D.C. LOWE, G. MYHRE, J. NGANGA, R. PRINN, G. RAGA, M. SCHULZ AND R. VAN DORLAND (2007): Changes in Atmospheric Constituents and in Radiative Forcing. In: Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

- GIRI, C., OCHIENG, E., TIESZEN, L. L., ZHU, Z., SINGH, A., LOVELAND, T., MASEK, J., DUKE, N. (2011): Status and distribution of mangrove forests of the world using earth observation satellite data. Global Ecology and Biogeography (20): 154-159.
- GOETZ, S. J., BACCINI, A., LAPORTE, N. T., JOHNS, T., WALKER, W., KELLNDORFER, J., HOUGH-TON, R. A., SUN, M. (2009): Mapping and monitoring carbon stocks with satellite observations: a comparison of methods. Carbon Balance and Management 2009, 4:2
- GRACE, J., SAN JOSÉ, J., MEIR, P., MIRANDA, H. S., AND MONTES, R. A. (2006). Productivity and carbon fluxes of tropical savannas. Journal of Biogeography 33, 387-400.
- GREEN, E.P., SHORT, F.T.(EDS). (2003): World Atlas of Seagrasses. University of California Press, Berkeley, CA. 298 pp.
- GUO, L. B., GIFFORD, R. M. (2002): Soil carbon stocks and land use change: a meta analysis. Global Change Biology 8 (4): 345-360.
- HE, N. P., Y. H. ZHANG, Q. YU, Q. S. CHEN, Q. M. PAN, G. M. ZHANG, AND X. G. HAN. (2011): Grazing intensity impacts soil carbon and nitrogen storage of continental steppe. Ecosphere 2(1):art8. doi:10.1890/ES10-00017.1
- HENRY, M., VALENTINI, R. AND BERNOUX, M. (2009): Soil carbon stocks in ecoregions of Africa. Biogeosciences Discuss., 6, 797–823.
- IGBP-DIS (2000). Global Soil Data Products CD-ROM. Global Soil Data Task, International Geosphere-Biosphere Programme, Data and Information System, Potsdam, Germany. Sourced from Oak Ridge National Laboratory Distributed Active Archive Center, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, USA. URL: http://www.daac.ornl.gov/SOILS/guides/igbp-surfaces.html.
- IPCC (2003): Good Practice Guidance for Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry. Available from: http://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/gpglulucf/gpglulucf_contents.html
- IPCC (2006): 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Volume 4: AFOLU. Available from: http://www.ipcc-nggip.iges.or.jp/public/2006gl/index.html
- IPCC (2007): Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. B. Metz, O.R. Davidson, P.R. Bosch, R. Dave & L.A. Meyer, eds. Cambridge, UK, and New York, USA, Cambridge University Press.
- JANETOS, A., KASPERSON, R., AGARDY, T., ALDER, J., ASH, N., DEFRIES, R., NELSON, G. (2005): Synthesis: Condition and Trends in Systems and Services, Trade-offs for Human Well-being, and Implications for the Future. UN Millennium Ecosystem Assessment Chapter 28, pp. 827-838.
- JOBBÁGY, E., JACKSON, R. B., (2000): The vertical distribution of soil organic carbon and its relation to climate and vegetation. Ecological Applications 10(2), 2000, pp. 423– 436
- KAUFFMAN, J. B., HEIDER, C., COLE, T. G., DWIRE, K. A., DONATO, D. C. (2011): Ecosystem Carbon Stocks of Micronesian Mangrove Forests. Wetlands (2011) 31:343–352
- KENNEDY, H., BJÖRK, M. (2009): Seagrass Meadows. In: Laffoley, D.d'A. & Grimsditch, G. (eds.): The management of natural coastal carbon sinks. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland. 53 pp
- KENNEDY, H., BEGGINS, J., DUARTE, C. MM, FOURQUREAN, J. W., HOLMER, M., MARBÀ, N., MID-DELBURG, J. J. (2010): Seagrass sediments as a global carbon sink: isotopic constraints. Global Biogeochem Cycles 24:GB4026 doi:10.1029/2010GB003848

- KOVEN, C. D., RINGEVALA, B., FRIEDLINGSTEIN, P., CIAIS, P., CADULEA, P., KHVOROSTYANOV, D., KRINNER, G., TARNOCAI, C. (2011): Permafrost carbon-climate feedbacks accelerate global warming. PNAS August 18, 2011.
- KUTSCH, W. L., MERBOLD, L., ZIEGLER, W., MUKELABAI, M. M., MUCHINDA, M., KOLLE, O., SCHOLES, R. J. (2011): The charcoal trap: Miombo forests and the energy needs of people. Carbon Balance and Management 2011 6:5.
- LAFFOLEY, D.D'A. & GRIMSDITCH, G. (EDS.) (2009): The management of natural coastal carbon sinks. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland. 53 pp
- LAL, R. (2001): Potential of desertification control to sequester carbon and mitigate the greenhouse effect. Climatic Change, vol. 51, pp. 35–72.
- LAL, R. (2004). Soil Carbon Sequestration Impacts on Global Climate Change and Food Security. Science 304, 1623-1627.
- LAL, R. (2009): Mitigating desertification and climate change through soil quality restoration and carbon sequestration. Published online at http://tinread.usb.md:8888/tinread/fulltext/lal/mitigating.pdf, last accessed on February 12, 2012.
- LE QUÉRÉ, C., RAUPACH, M., R., CANADELL, J., G., MARLAND, G., BOPP, L., CIAIS, P., CONWAY, T., J., DONEY, S., C., FEELY, R., A., FOSTER, P., FRIEDLINGSTEIN, P., GURNEY, K., HOUGH-TON, R., A., HOUSE, J., I., HUNTINGFORD, C., LEVY, P., E., LOMAS, M., R., MAJKUT, J., METZL, N., OMETTO, J., P., PETERS, G., P., PRENTICE, I., C., RANDERSON, J., T., RUNNING, S., W., SARMIENTO, J., L., SCHUSTER, U., SITCH, S., TAKAHASHI, T., VIOVY, N., VAN DER WERF, G., R., WOODWARD, F., I. (2009): Trends in the sources and sinks of carbon dioxide. Nature Geoscience 2, 831-835.
- LOVELOCK, C. E., ELLISON, J. (2007): Vulnerability of mangroves and tidal wetlands of the Great Barrier Reef to climate change. In: Johnson, J.E., Marshall, P.A. (eds.): Climate Change and the Great Barrier Reef: A Vulnerability Assessment. Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority and Australian Greenhouse Office, Australia.
- LOVELOCK, C. E., RUESS, R. W., FELLER, I. C. (2011): CO2 Efflux from Cleared Mangrove Peat. PLoS ONE 6(6): e21279. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0021279.
- MACK, M.C., BRET-HARTE, M.S., HOLLINGSWORTH, T.N., JANDT, R.R., SCHUUR, E.A. G., SHAVER, G.R. AND D.L. VERBYLA (2011): Carbon loss from an unprecedented Arctic tundra wildfire. Nature 475 pp. 489–492
- MCKEE, K. L. (2010): Biophysical controls on accretion and elevation change in Caribbean mangrove ecosystems. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science (91) 4: 475-483.
- MCLEOD, E., AND SALM, R. V. (2006): Managing Mangroves for Resilience to Climate Change. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland. 64pp.
- MERBOLD, L., KUTSCH, W. L., CORRADI, C., KOLLE, O., REBMANN, C., STOY, P. C., ZIMOV, S. A., SCHULZE, E.-D. (2009): Artificial drainage and associated carbon fluxes (CO2/CH4) in a tundra ecosystem. Global Change Biology Volume 15, Issue 11, pages 2599–2614.

MIDDLETON, N. AND THOMAS, D. (1997): World Atlas of Desertification, Arnold, London.

- MILES, L. AND KAPOS, V. (2008). Reducing greenhouse gas emissions from deforestation and forest degradation: Global land-use implications. Science 320, 1454-1455.
- MILLENNIUM ECOSYSTEM ASSESSMENT (2005): Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Biodiversity Synthesis. World Resources Institute, Washington, DC.
- MÜLLER, C., EICKHOUT, B., ZAEHLE, S., BONDEAU, A., CRAMER, W., LUCHT, W. (2007): Effects of changes in CO2, climate, and land use on the carbon balance of the land biosphere

during the 21st century. - Journal of Geophysical Research G - Biogeosciences, 112, G02032.

- MURRAY, B. C., PENDLETON, L., JENKINS, W. A., SIFLEET, S. (2011): Green Payments for Blue Carbon. Economic Incentives for Protecting Threatened Coastal Habitats. Nicholas Institute for Environmental Policy Solutions. Report NI R 11-04.
- NELLEMANN, C., CORCORAN, E., DUARTE, C. M., VALDÉS, L., DE YOUNG, C., FONSECA, L., GRIMSDITCH, G. (EDS). (2009): Blue Carbon. A Rapid Response Assessment. United Nations Environment Programme, GRID-Arendal, www.grida.no
- OGLE, S.M., BREIDT, F.J., PAUSTIAN, K. (2005): Agricultural management impacts on soil organic carbon storage under moist and dry climatic conditions of temperate and tropical regions. Biogeochemistry 72:87-121.
- OLANDER, L. P., AND HAUGEN-KOZYRA, K. (2011): Using Biogeochemical Process Models to Quantify Greenhouse Gas Mitigation from Agricultural Management Projects. Technical Working Group on Agricultural Greenhouse Gases (T-AGG) Supplemental Report. Nicholas Institute for Environmental Policy Solutions Report NI R 11-03.
- OLSON, D. M., DINERSTEIN, E, WIKRAMANAYAKE, E. D, BURGESS, N. D., POWELL, G. V. N, UN-DERWOOD, E. C., D'AMICO, J. A, ITOUA, I, STRAND, H. E, MORRISON, J. C., LOUCKS, C. J, ALLNUTT, T., RICKETTS, T. H., KURA, Y, LAMOREUX, J. F, WETTENGEL, W. W., HEDAO, P, AND KASSEM, K. R (2001). Terrestrial Ecoregions of the World: a new map of life on Earth. Bioscience 51, 933-938.
- PARISH, F., SIRIN, A., CHARMAN, D., JOOSTEN, H., MINAYEVA, T., SILVIUS, M., STRINGER, L., (EDS.) (2008). Assessment on Peatlands, Biodiversity and Climate Change: Main Report. Global Environment Centre and Wetlands International: Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, and Wageningen, Netherlands.
- PENDALL, E., OSANAI, Y., WILLIAMS, A. L., HOVENDEN, M. J. (2011): Soil carbon storage under simulated climate change is mediated by plant functional type. Global Change Biology (2011) 17, 505–514
- PHALAN, B., ONIAL, M., BALMFORD, A., GREEN, R. E. (2011): Reconciling Food Production and Biodiversity Conservation: Land Sharing and Land Sparing Compared. Science (333): 1289 – 1291.
- POFFENBARGER, H. J., NEEDELMAN, B. A., MEGONIGAL J. P. (2011): Salinity influence on methane emissions from tidal marshes. Wetlands. doi: 10.1007/s13157-011-0197-0
- PRIHODKO, L., HANAN, N. P., MCKEOWN, B., BUCINI, G., TREDENNICK, A. (2011): Fueling the Source: Mapping and Modeling Carbon and Woody Resources for Continental Africa. Proceedings of the 34th International Symposium on Remote Sensing of Environment, Sydney, Australia, 10-15 April 2011, http://www.isprs.org/proceedings/2011/ISRSE-34/211104015Final00650.pdf, last accessed on January 3, 2012.
- RANDERSON, J. T., LIU, H., FLANNER, M. G., CHAMBERS, S. D., JIN, Y., HESS, P. G., PFISTER, G., MACK, M. C., TRESEDER, K. K., WELP, L. R., CHAPIN, F. S., HARDEN, J. W., GOULDEN, M. L., LYONS, E., NEFF, J. C., SCHUUR, E. A. G., ZENDER, C. S. (2006): The Impact of Boreal Forest Fire on Climate Warming. Science (314) 5802:1130-1132.
- REED, D. C. AND BRZEZINSKI, M. A. (2009): Kelp Forests. In: Laffoley, D.d'A. & Grimsditch, G. (eds.): The management of natural coastal carbon sinks. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland. 53 pp
- RUESCH, A. S. AND GIBBS, H. (2008). New Global Biomass Carbon Map for the Year 2000 Based on IPCC Tier-1 Methodology. Oak Ridge National Laboratory's Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center: Oak Ridge, USA. Available online from the Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center, URL: http://cdiac.ornl.gov.

- RUSSELL-SMITH, J., AND WHITEHEAD, P. (2008): Background notes prepared for Parliament of Australia: Joint Standing Committee on Treaties, Public hearing, Darwin 19 August 2008, by Tropical Savannas Management Cooperative Research Centre, Charles Darwin University. Submission No.10, TT 25 June 2008.
- SAFRIEL, U., Z. ADEEL, D. DIEMEIJER, J. PUIGDEFABREGES, R. WHITE, R. LAL, M. WINSLOW, J. ZIEDLER, S. PRINCE, E. ARCHER AND C. KING (2005): Dryland Systems. UN Millennium Ecosystem Assessment Chapter 22, pp. 623-62.
- SCBD (Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity) (2010): Global Biodiversity Outlook 3. Montréal, 94 pages.
- SCHLESINGER, W. H., BELNAP, J., AND MARION, G. (2009). On carbon sequestration in desert ecosystems. Global Change Biology 15: online.
- SCHUUR, E. A. G., BOCKHEIM, J., CANADELL, J. G., EUSKIRCHEN, E., FIELD, C. B., GORYACHKIN,
 S. V., HAGEMANN, S., KUHRY, P., LAFLEUR, P. M., LEE, H., MAZHITOVA, G., NELSON, F. E.,
 RINKE, A., ROMANOVSKY, V. E., SHIKLOMANOV, N., TARNOCAI, C., VENEVSKY, S., VOGEL, J.
 G., AND ZIMOV, S. A. (2008). Vulnerability of permafrost carbon to climate change: Implications for the global carbon cycle. Bioscience 58, 701-714.
- SHAVER, G. R., BILLINGS, W. D., CHAPIN, F. S., GILBIN, A. E., NADELHOFFER, K. J., OECHEL, W. C., AND RASTETTER, E. B. (1992). Global change and the carbon balance of arctic ecosystems. Bioscience 42, 433-441.
- SIEBERT, S., BURKE, J., FAURES, J. M., FRENKEN, K., HOOGEVEEN, J., DÖLL, P., PORTMANN, F. T. (2010): Groundwater use for irrigation – a global inventory. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. Discuss. 7: 3977–4021
- SMITH, J., SMITH, P., WATTENBACH, M., ZÄHLE, S., HIEDERER, R., JONES, R. J. A., MON-TANARELLA, L., ROUNSEVELL, M. D. A., REGINSTER, I., EWERTS, F. (2005): Projected changes in mineral soil carbon of European croplands and grasslands, 1990–2080. Global Change Biology (11) 12: 2141–2152.
- SMITH, P., MARTINO, D., CAI, Z., GWARY, D., JANZEN, H., KUMAR, P., MCCARL, B., OGLE, S., O'MARA, F., RICE, C., SCHOLES, B., SIROTENKO, O., HOWDEN, M., MCALLISTER, T., PAN, G., ROMANENKOV, V., SCHNEIDER, U., TOWPRAYOON, S., WATTENBACH, M. & SMITH, J. (2008): Greenhouse gas mitigation in agriculture. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B - Biological Sciences, 363: 789–813.
- SMITH, S. V. AND GATTUSO, J. (2009): Coral Reefs. In: Laffoley, D.d'A. & Grimsditch, G. (eds.): The management of natural coastal carbon sinks. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland. 53 pp
- SPALDING, M., KALNUMA, M. COLLINS, L. (2010): World Atlas of Mangroves. Earthscan. London, Washinton, DC.
- STEFFENS, M, KÖLBL, A., TOTSCHE, K.U., KÖGEL-KNABNER, I. (2008): Grazing effects on soil chemical and physical properties in a semiarid steppe of Inner Mongolia (P.R. China). Geoderma (143) 1-2: 63-72.
- STEFFENS, M., KÖLBL, A., KÖGEL-KNABNER, I. (2009): Alteration of soil organic matter pools and aggregation in semi-arid steppe topsoils as driven by organic matter input. European Journal of Soil Science 60 pp. 198–212
- STERN, N. (2007): The Economics of Climate Change. The Stern Review. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- TEEB The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity for National and International Policy Makers (2009).

- Terrestrial Carbon Group (2009): Policy Brief 6. Estimating Terrestrial Carbon at Risk of Emission. Discussion Draft December 2009.
- Terrestrial Carbon Group (2010): Roadmap for Terrestrial Carbon Science. Research Needs for Carbon Management in Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Uses
- Tropical Savannas CRC (Cooperative Research Centre) (2011): Fire management and greenhouse gas emissions. Online at http://savanna.cdu.edu.au/information/greenhouse_emissions.html, last accessed on 21st September 2011.
- TRUMPER, K., BERTZKY, M., DICKSON, B., VAN DER HEIJDEN, G., JENKINS, M., MANNING, P. (2009). The Natural Fix? The role of ecosystems in climate mitigation. A UNEP rapid response assessment. United Nations Environment Programme, UNEPWCMC, Cambridge, UK.
- TRUMPER, K., RAVILIOUS, C., DICKSON, B. (2008): Carbon in Drylands: Desertification, Climate Change and Carbon Finance. A UNEP-UNDP-UNCCD Technical Note for Discussions at CRIC 7, Istanbul, Turkey 03-14.
- UNEP (2012): A Glass Half Empty: Regions at Risk Due to Groundwater Depletion. UNEP Global Environmental Alert Service, January 2012, available online at http://na.unep.net/geas/getUNEPPageWithArticleIDScript.php?article_id=76, last accessed on February 12, 2012.
- UNEP-WCMC (2007): A spatial analysis approach to the global delineation of dryland areas of relevance to the CBD Programme of Work on Dry and Subhumid Lands. Available online at: http://www.unep-wcmc.org/habitats/drylands/dryland_report_final_HR.pdf
- UNEP-WCMC (2008). Carbon and biodiversity: a demonstration atlas. Kapos, V., Ravilious, C., Campbell, A., Dickson, B., Gibbs, H., Hansen, M., Lysenko, I., Miles, L., Price, J., Scharlemann, J. P. W., and Trumper, K. UNEP-WCMC: Cambridge, UK.
- VAN DER WERF, G. R., D.C. MORTON, R.S. DEFRIES, J.G.J. OLIVIER, P.S. KASIBHATLA, R.B. JACKSON, G.J. COLLATZ, AND J.T. RANDERSON (2009): CO2 emissions from forest loss. Nature Geoscience, 2:737-738.
- VUICHARD, N., P. CIAIS, L. BELELLI, P. SMITH, AND R. VALENTINI (2008), Carbon sequestration due to the abandonment of agriculture in the former USSR since 1990, Global Biogeochem. Cycles, 22, GB4018
- WAYCOTT, M., DUARTE, C. M., CARRUTHERS, T. J. B., ORTH, R. J., DENNISON, W. C., OLYARNIK, S., CALLADINE, A., FOURQUREAN, J. W., HECK, K. L., HUGHES, A. R., KENDRICK, G. A., KENWORTHY, W. J., SHORT, F. T., WILLIAMS, S. L. (2009): Accelerating loss of seagrasses across the globe threatens coastal ecosystems. PNAS (106) 30: 12377-12381.
- WBGU (1998): The Accounting of Biological Sinks and Sources Under the Kyoto Protocol A Step Forwards or Backwards for Global Environmental Protection?
- WILKINSON, C. (2008): Status of the Coral Reefs of the World: 2008. Townsville, Australia. Global Coral Reef Monitoring Network and Reef and Rainforest Research Centre.
- WILLIAMS, C. A., HANAN, N. P., NEFF, J. C., SCHOLES, R. J., BERRY, J. A., DENNING, A. S., BAKER, D. F. (2007): Africa and the global carbon cycle. Carbon Balance and Management 2007, 2:3; doi:10.1186/1750-0680-2-3.
- WOHLFAHRT, G., FENSTERMAKER, L. F., AND ARNONE, J. A. (2008). Large annual net ecosystem CO2 uptake of a Mojave Desert ecosystem. Global Change Biology 14, 1475-1487.
- XIE, Z., ZHU, J., LIU, G., CADISCH, G., HASEGAWA, T., CHEN, C., SUN, H., TANG, H., AND ZENG, Q. (2007): Soil organic carbon stocks in China and changes from 1980s to 2000s. Global Change Biology, vol. 13, no.9, pp.1989-2007.

- ZÄHLE, S., FRIEDLINGSTEIN, P. AND FRIEND, A.D. (2010): Terrestrial nitrogen feedbacks may accelerate future climate change. Geophysical Research Letters, 37, L01401: doi:10.1029/2009GL041345.
- ZINGORE S., MANYAME C., NYAMUGAFATA P. AND GILLER K.E. (2005): Long-term changes in organic matter of woodland soils cleared for arable cropping in Zimbabwe. European Journal of Soil Science 57: 727-736.

Annex: Recommendations of the workshop "The climate relevance of ecosystems beyond forests and peatlands", 26 - 29 October 2011

The German Federal Agency for Nature Conservation and the UNEP World Conservation Monitoring Centre convened a workshop at the International Academy for Nature Conservation Isle of Vilm to review and explore the climate change mitigation potential of ecosystems other than terrestrial forests and peatlands, and identify knowledge gaps and research needs.

32 participants from science, national conservation authorities, the European Commission, UNDP, NGOs and consultancies and an observer from UNFCCC participated in the workshop. UNEP-WCMC had produced a draft background report that reviews relevant literature and was discussed during the workshop.

This discussion is in line with interest expressed by some Parties within the UNFCCC process in the potential of various types of ecosystems for climate change mitigation. In the CBD process, making use of the mitigation potential of a range of ecosystems has been supported by several COP decisions and technical reports.

The presentations and discussions at the workshop focussed particularly on temperate and tropical grasslands and savannahs, deserts and dry shrublands, mangroves, seagrass meadows and tidal marshes.

The participants came up with the following conclusions and recommendations:

A. General conclusions

All ecosystems can contribute to climate change mitigation, and some have a higher potential than has previously been recognized, due in part to the often overlooked importance of soil carbon. The full potential of ecosystem-based climate change mitigation beyond forests and peatlands should be realised, including the opportunities for the multiple benefits to society which can be provided by such ecosystem-based approaches.

Considering the soil carbon pools and their stabilisation and sequestration capacities is important for any mitigation activities in temperate and tropical grasslands and savannahs, deserts and dry shrublands and mangroves, seagrass meadows and tidal marshes.

Maintenance of intact ecosystems, ecosystem restoration and sustainable forms of land management are all relevant mitigation strategies. The most appropriate strategy for any intervention should be identified depending on the context taking into account i.a. the following factors: mitigation potential as compared to business as usual over relevant time scales, availability of suitable areas, risk of leakage with regard to carbon and biodiversity, cost effectiveness incl. opportunity and implementation costs, technical feasibility, availability of information and measuring tools, and potential for multiple benefits (e.g. biodiversity conservation, poverty reduction, food security, water supply and purification, climate change adaptation).

The Ecosystem Approach of the CBD⁸ is a useful tool when designing ecosystem-based mitigation strategies and activities, also with regard to participation of local communities.

Ecosystem-based approaches to mitigation in ecosystems other than forests and peatlands can at present be funded through the voluntary carbon market, governments, specific programmes such as the International Climate Initiative (ICI) and donors including environmental funds and NGOs. For developing countries, the development of Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions (NAMAs) using ecosystem-based approaches could emerge as one option to support and promote such mitigation measures.

For those ecosystems with relatively low climate change mitigation potential but high potential for multiple benefits, support from governments and donors plays an important role and should be encouraged.

Finding ways to reward the provision of multiple benefits can provide key additional incentives for mitigation approaches based on all types of ecosystems. Such additional incentives can enhance the uptake of ecosystem-based mitigation approaches even for ecosystems with very high mitigation potential due to their carbon stocks and sequestration capacity, such as some coastal marine systems.

B. Recommendations to Policy-Makers

- Enabling legal and policy frameworks for ecosystem-based mitigation need to be adopted in-country (e.g. regulations for land use planning) – the Rio Conventions (UNFCCC, CBD, UNCCD) can help promote this process.
- National implementation of UNFCCC, CBD and UNCCD should take place in a more integrated manner in order to promote multiple benefits and increase synergies and efficient use of resources. In addition, application of ecosystem-based approaches contributing to both climate change mitigation and adaptation should be enhanced.
- Mechanisms to fund ecosystem-based mitigation measures should be identified, developed and implemented.
- Guidance on how to address ecosystem-based mitigation as possible part of NAMAs should be developed. Assistance should be provided to countries that wish to develop such measures.
- Payment for Ecosystem Services (PES) schemes should be applied to provide incentives to institutions, land managers etc. for sustainable land management.
- In order to facilitate enhanced generation and use of voluntary carbon offsets, the development of accounting standards for mitigation activities and/or ecosystem types which are not covered by already existing standards should be supported, building on the existing standards.

⁸ see http://www.cbd.int/ecosystem/

- The special management needs of wooded ecosystems not traditionally seen as forests (i.e. ecosystems with sparse tree cover) should be taken into account in existing and planned funding mechanisms, and the potential and risks of REDD+ and CDM for the conservation of savannahs and mangrove forests and their carbon stocks should be considered.
- Avoided conversion of terrestrial and coastal marine ecosystems, beyond those covered by REDD and LULUCF, should be addressed by UNFCCC, UNCCD and CBD.
- The downstream impacts of land based pollution and degradation on coastal ecosystembased climate change mitigation should be recognized.

C. Recommendations to Science

- Improve global mapping of current and potential carbon stocks and fluxes.
- Enhance knowledge on greenhouse gas sequestration and emission rates for available management options across all types of ecosystems.
- Make available knowledge more easily accessible, also for decision-makers, donors, project developers and conservation practitioners.
- Carry out further research on soil carbon stocks, sequestration potentials and stabilisation capacities. Soil carbon stocks in general, their spatial heterogeneity and their dynamics including the temporal aspect need much greater attention. Internationally standardised methods need to be developed for measuring soil carbon across all types of ecosystems.
- Enhance the process-level understanding of dynamics related to all major greenhouse gases and carry out Integrated Net Radiative Forcing analysis (not just GHGs) for important processes and land use options.
- For temperate grasslands and savannahs, carry out research into the consequences of fire management and afforestation for mitigation, land use and biodiversity.
- Pay attention to the particular knowledge gaps for coastal ecosystems with regard to monitoring of trends, mapping of current and potential carbon stocks and fluxes, identification of drivers leading to loss and degradation of carbon stocks, and development of standardized methods for estimation of carbon stocks, sequestration and emissions.
- Develop feasible accounting tools for all types of ecosystems, carbon pools and greenhouse gases, including regionally appropriate default values, indicator-based approaches and computer-based modelling.
- Carry out further research on the likely impacts of climate change and associated phenomena, such as sea level rise and elevated carbon dioxide concentrations, on ecosystem carbon stocks, paying attention to the issue of critical thresholds.
- Improve the representation of non-forest ecosystems in process-oriented models on carbon stock changes and their interaction with climate change.
- Carry out further research into impacts of man-made changes of hydrology on carbon stocks and interactions with climate change.
- Develop and calibrate models to make sensitivity analyses of how ecosystem feedbacks to climate are affected by interactions with ecosystem-based mitigation measures.

- Carry out further research into the fate of carbon transported by erosion processes.
- Intensify research on management options that link climate change mitigation with multiple benefits, including for adaptation.
- Enhance knowledge on the relationship between soil carbon stocks and agronomic/biomass productivity of different land use and management systems.
- Assess direct and indirect impacts of policies related to production and use of biofuels, including impacts on soil carbon stocks.
- Develop tools for decision-makers to assist with the prioritisation of options for action, including through assessment of project feasibility and potential for multiple benefits, opportunity cost mapping and scenario mapping.
- Improve models to identify suitable areas for restoration actions.

D. Recommendations to Donors and other Actors in Project Funding and Project Development

- Donors and other actors are encouraged to actively promote new ecosystem-based mitigation approaches, and test and demonstrate their feasibility, i.a. through pilot projects with appropriate scientific support; such projects should at the same time enhance the knowledge base on the climate relevance of ecosystems other than forests and peatlands, and on best practices for strengthening their role in climate change mitigation. Multiple benefits should be addressed in both project design and scientific monitoring and evaluation.
- Support and capacities for the maintenance and enhancement of climate change mitigation benefits of non-forest ecosystems should be increased through communication of project results, capacity building, awareness raising and environmental education.
- Innovative funding instruments should be developed, tested and used.